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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Welcome to

          3  today's Oversight Hearing of the Public Safety

          4  Committee in which we are going to be discussing the

          5  NYPD, staffing and recruitment.  Normally I begin by

          6  acknowledging my colleagues.  We'll skip that part.

          7                 As has been well documented in the

          8  press and in testimony before this Committee, the

          9  NYPD recently has begun to struggle to meet its

         10  targeted uniformed headcount numbers.  At this

         11  Committee's Executive Budget Hearing, Commissioner

         12  Kelly testified that headcount will hover around

         13  35,300 by July, 2007, approximately 3,000 officers

         14  below target.

         15                 While some of the shortfall may be

         16  related to increased officer retirement, post-911

         17  and the result of heavy hiring in the 1980s, there

         18  is also a disturbing trend of decreasing numbers of

         19  new recruits and early attrition.  While overall

         20  Department non-retirement attrition is approximately

         21  two percent, almost 18 percent of new recruits are

         22  dropping out prior to graduation from the Police

         23  Academy, and fewer aspiring officers are entering

         24  the Academy at all.  As of May, 2006, applications

         25  are down 25 percent, and fewer than 800 will be
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          2  enrolled in the upcoming class in spite of the fact

          3  that there's a need for 2,800 and capacity for

          4  2,100.

          5                 That 18 percent number of recruits

          6  Ray Kelly testified the recruit drop-out rate is the

          7  highest that he can remember.  I think it's

          8  important to note that when we get below 35,000,

          9  which I anticipate we will in the near future, we

         10  will have less police officers here in New York City

         11  than we did in 1993. That is appalling, but that's

         12  the crisis we're facing.

         13                 It's especially difficult for people

         14  like myself and Ray Kelly who were perhaps the

         15  strongest advocates for the 800 new police officers,

         16  which we added into last year's budget.  We fought

         17  hard for that.  The Mayor agreed with us, and when

         18  he had the money, he put it towards the police.

         19  Eight-hundred new police were supposed to be hired.

         20  We are 3,000 down from that headcount.  As I said,

         21  it is a crisis waiting to happen.

         22                 This trend in decreasing applicants

         23  and increasing attrition is widely attributed to

         24  low-starting salary for cadets entering the Academy,

         25  and to some extent, the ceiling salary reached after
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          2  five and a half years of service.   The starting

          3  salary is $25,100, which is considerably less than

          4  the almost $40,000 paid to the July, 2005 recruit

          5  class.  This resulted from an arbitrator's decision

          6  that went into effect in January in 2006.

          7                 As most in this room are aware, the

          8  City and the PBA have long struggled in contract

          9  negotiations necessitating the involvement of an

         10  arbitrator.  I want to emphasize that this hearing

         11  is not about taking sides, placing blame.  It's

         12  about bringing everyone together into a room to

         13  discuss the situation, to call attention to the

         14  situation, and hopefully to move us closer to a

         15  resolution of the situation because it is, as

         16  Commissioner Kelly himself recently deemed, the

         17  biggest labor issue facing this City.

         18                 We look forward to hearing from the

         19  Police Department about how they are able to do more

         20  with less because it is truly astounding that Ray

         21  Kelly came in here and discussed a few weeks ago the

         22  tremendous increases you're making in the fight

         23  against crime and how you're bringing crime down to

         24  almost unheard of levels despite the fact that you

         25  don't have the police officers that are necessary to

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  do the job.  So we want to hear more about that.

          3                 We want to hear about how this lack

          4  of police officers is affecting operations like

          5  Operation Impact, how it's affecting precinct

          6  staffing, things of that nature.

          7                 Of course, we'll be hearing from the

          8  PBA.  We'll also be hearing from a Professor of

          9  Criminal Justice from John Jay and from the

         10  Independent Budget Office.

         11                 We have been joined by Council Member

         12  Hiram Monserrate, a former police officer.  Thank

         13  you for joining us, Hiram.

         14                 With that, I'd like to turn over the

         15  stage to Chief Pineiro.  Thank you, Chief, for

         16  coming down here today.  It know it was not easy,

         17  but again, let me begin by commending your

         18  Department for your work done with breaking the

         19  recent terrorist case.  As usual, stopped before it

         20  happened, which has been a pleasant trend since

         21  2001, the amount of plots that you've been able to

         22  intercept and keep us safe, so thank you.  Despite

         23  the fact that you don't have the police officers you

         24  need, you're keeping us safe, and we want to hear

         25  some more about that.  Thanks.
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          2                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We appreciate your

          3  support, Mr. Vallone.

          4                 Good morning, Mr. Chairman and

          5  Members of the Council.  I am Chief Rafael Pineiro,

          6  Chief of Personnel of the New York City Police

          7  Department.  I am joined by Deputy Chief John

          8  Gerrish, Commanding Officer of the NYPD's Office of

          9  Management, Analysis and Planning, Inspector Walter

         10  Salowski, Commanding Officer of the Department's

         11  Applicant Processing Division and Deputy Inspector

         12  Martin Morales, who commands the NYPD's recruitment

         13  section.

         14                 On behalf of Police Commissioner

         15  Raymond W. Kelly, we are pleased to be here today to

         16  discuss the NYPD's staffing levels and recruitment

         17  efforts.

         18                 As Commissioner Kelly indicated two

         19  weeks ago, during the Department's Fiscal Year '08

         20  Executive Budget Hearing, the Police Department is

         21  currently facing a serious challenge in attracting

         22  and retaining quality candidates to fill our ranks.

         23  I would like first to briefly describe the current

         24  situation on how staffing decisions are made.  I

         25  will then outline for you our recruitment efforts
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          2  aimed toward maximizing our ability to hire the

          3  officers that we need.

          4                 From a high of nearly 41,000 police

          5  officers in October of 2000, the Department's

          6  uniformed staffing level as of April 30th is just

          7  under 36,000, a decrease of 5,000 police officers,

          8  or 12 percent.  We anticipate hiring between 700 and

          9  800 recruits for our next Police Academy class

         10  commencing July 9th and will therefore fall about

         11  2,000 police officers short of our hiring goal.

         12                 In fact, we have fallen short of our

         13  hiring goal for the last two classes, in July, 2006

         14  and in January, 2007, failing both times to meet the

         15  authorized budgeted headcount.  However, even in the

         16  face of diminished personnel levels, Commissioner

         17  Kelly has made it clear that we will not compromise

         18  our hiring standards and will continue to fulfill

         19  our mission notwithstanding the challenge presented

         20  by having fewer police officers in place.

         21                 We believe that the difficulty in

         22  attracting a sufficient number of qualified

         23  candidates for what we believe is one of the best

         24  jobs in the world is due primarily to the low

         25  starting salary while recruits are undergoing their
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          2  initial training in the Police Academy.

          3                 Addressing that issue is beyond our

          4  purview, and we will not comment further except to

          5  say that we are hopeful that the situation will be

          6  resolved and that we will soon be able to fill our

          7  Academy classes to the 2,100 recruit capacity once

          8  again.

          9                 A companion issue which has been

         10  raised in this context is the attrition of police

         11  officers who file for service retirement after 20

         12  years, or who resign, usually relatively early in

         13  their careers.  As Commissioner Kelly noted, the

         14  attrition rates for both retirement and resignation

         15  have remained relatively constant over the years.

         16  Attrition rates for 20- year service retirement vary

         17  according to the rank of the officer, with police

         18  officers retiring at a rate of about 80 percent

         19  detectives at about 65 percent, sergeants and

         20  lieutenants at 50 to 60 percent and captains and

         21  above at about 15 to 20 percent.

         22                 The actual number of retirements will

         23  also fluctuate according to how many officers were

         24  hired 20 years prior.  For example, from 1982

         25  through 1987 we hired between 3,000 and 4,000
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          2  officers each year, and our attrition over these

          3  past five years has been correspondingly high.  We

          4  anticipate less attrition over the next two years

          5  due to the smaller hiring classes in 1988 and 1989,

          6  but we expect it to rise again in 2010 when the

          7  officers hired pursuant to Safe Streets, Safe City

          8  start reaching their 20th anniversary.

          9                 Resignations average two percent per

         10  year and most occur within the first five years of

         11  an officer's career for a variety of causes.  The

         12  most common reasons which officers cite are joining

         13  other police departments, joining other governmental

         14  agencies, including the Fire Department, personal

         15  reasons and private sector employment.  Officers

         16  also resign due to disciplinary or performance

         17  problems.

         18                 When planning for our staffing needs,

         19  we must also take into account the number of

         20  recruits who resign during the Police Academy

         21  training.  We currently estimate the attrition rate

         22  for Police Academy classes at 18 percent.  In the

         23  current class, there are 214 resignations among a

         24  class which started at 1,346 in number for an

         25  attrition rate of 16 percent so far.
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          2                 Again, recruits tell us that they are

          3  resigning for a variety of reasons, primarily

          4  because of academic difficulty, financial reasons,

          5  family obligations, personal reasons or because the

          6  job is simply not for them.

          7                 Our Police Academy staff works

          8  closely with the recruits to assist them in

          9  mastering the curriculum, but it is a demanding six

         10  months meant to prepare recruits for the vigors of

         11  police work.  We must therefore acknowledge that not

         12  every recruit will graduate and plan our staffing

         13  assignments with that in mind.

         14                 In a city as complex as New York,

         15  with a Police Department the size of the NYPD, the

         16  decisions we make about how to utilize our personal

         17  resources assume vital importance, especially when

         18  confronting lowered personnel levels.  We must

         19  ensure that the day- to- day operations of the

         20  Department are carried out.  Officers must patrol

         21  the streets, housing developments and subways.

         22  Radio runs must be answered, crime must be

         23  investigated, quality of life concerns must be

         24  addressed, and our relationship with the communities

         25  we serve must be nurtured.
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          2                 But beyond the more conventional

          3  aspects of police work, we must also devote a

          4  significant percentage of our resources to counter

          5  terrorism efforts and to all of the less visible

          6  needs of the Department, which are also critically

          7  important, training, internal investigations, long-

          8  term criminal investigations, obtaining and managing

          9  emerging technologies, and so forth.

         10                 Balancing these competing needs takes

         11  great creativity and strategic planning, requiring

         12  us to weigh the personnel needs of specialized

         13  units, support units and patrol commands.  A further

         14  challenge we confront is to find the proper balance

         15  among the patrol commands themselves.  We are aided

         16  in this effort by the patrol allocation plan, a

         17  formula for the distribution of police officers

         18  within the Patrol Services Bureau and among precinct

         19  commands.  The plan consists of five components:

         20                 The Patrol Car Allocation Model,

         21  initially developed by the Rand Corporation, which

         22  uses the most recent 12 months' data regarding radio

         23  runs to determine the number of patrol cars and

         24  officers necessary to respond to calls for service

         25  on a daily basis;
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          2                 The Sustained Operational Component,

          3  which is designed to address unique operational

          4  needs particular to each precinct, for example,

          5  missions, hospitals, fixed posts, large parks, et

          6  cetera;

          7                 The Staff Support Factor, which

          8  accounts for critical, non- patrol functions in the

          9  precinct such as youth officers, domestic violence

         10  officers, crime prevention, community affairs,

         11  traffic safety and CompStat crime analysis;

         12                 The Public Safety Factor, which

         13  allocates resources according to the level of crime

         14  and population in the precinct, weighted more

         15  heavily toward violent crime such as robberies and

         16  shootings; and

         17                 Local Police Judgment, which

         18  incorporates the recommendations of Borough

         19  Commanders and the Chief of Patrol as they consider

         20  the other four factors in light of seasonal needs

         21  and other emerging trends.

         22                 The Patrol Allocation Plan is usually

         23  exercised when a recruit class graduates from the

         24  Academy, so that an equitable distribution of the

         25  new officers may be made, including deployment to
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          2  the Housing and Transit Bureaus.  It also ensures

          3  that the staffing levels already existing in the

          4  commands may be rebalanced appropriately to meet

          5  changing workload needs and replenish attrition.

          6  However, because the Department is constantly re

          7  evaluating its strategies with the overarching goal

          8  of reducing crime, a new factor has been added to

          9  the mix, Operation Impact.

         10                 Operation Impact is a successful

         11  crime- fighting strategy, which began in January,

         12  2003 as a 90- day initiative to reduce crime in

         13  particularly violence- prone areas of the City. High

         14  crime areas were saturated with police resources,

         15  utilizing newly graduated recruits and personnel

         16  from the Detective Bureau, the Gang Division, the

         17  Narcotics Division, the Warrant Section and the Vice

         18  Enforcement Division.

         19                 Because of its immediate and striking

         20  success in reducing crime, and especially violent

         21  crime, Operation Impact continues to represent a

         22  critical component of our overall crime reduction

         23  strategies.  For example, in the 16 current

         24  Operation Impact locations, major felony crime

         25  decreased almost 19 percent when comparing the first
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          2  four and a half months of 2007 to the first four and

          3  a half months of 2006, outpacing the City's nine

          4  percent overall decrease in major felony crime for

          5  the same time period.

          6                 It is clear that a reduced Police

          7  Academy graduating class would limit our options as

          8  we make our staffing decisions. We will, however,

          9  continue to exercise our judgment to maximize the

         10  use of all of our personnel in the best manner

         11  possible, and will also continue to think outside

         12  the box as we devise new strategies to address

         13  emerging crime trends as they develop.

         14                 Of course, the easiest way to solve a

         15  staffing problem is to increase the size of the

         16  staff, and to that end I would like to describe the

         17  Department's recruitment efforts.

         18                 In spite of the low starting salary

         19  for police officers, the NYPD continues to attract

         20  highly qualified and motivated applicants who

         21  understand that there is unlimited opportunity and

         22  fascinating work available for them if they choose

         23  to take advantage of it.  The mission of our

         24  Recruitment Section is to get that message out.  I

         25  invite you to visit the NYPD's website at
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          2  www.nypdrecruit.com to get a sense of how much

          3  information and assistance is available for anyone

          4  interested in becoming a police officer.

          5                 The Recruitment Section reaches out

          6  in person and through advertising in all major

          7  media, print, radio, television and the internet, as

          8  well as in local newspapers, foreign language

          9  publications and media that target audiences of

         10  specific ethnic backgrounds.  They attend job fairs,

         11  set up booths at community gatherings and schools

         12  and, most important, talk to people everywhere they

         13  can about the benefits of the job and what it can

         14  offer, not only in financial terms but also from the

         15  sense of personal reward that can come with public

         16  service.

         17                 Working with the Department of

         18  Citywide Administrative Services, we have made it as

         19  easy as possible to apply for the police officer

         20  test, waiving the application fee, providing for

         21  online filing of the application and allowing filing

         22  at any time, every day of the year, conducting three

         23  New York City exams per year on several dates, and

         24  conducting walk- in exams with no filing period at

         25  colleges and military bases throughout the country.
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          2                 In addition, the Police Department

          3  provides several candidate services such as offering

          4  free four- week tutorial programs throughout the

          5  City during evenings and weekends to assist

          6  applicants in passing the exam, providing test

          7  preparation kits and inviting anyone who is

          8  interested or needs assistance to call 212 RECRUIT.

          9                 Finally, the Recruitment Section's

         10  relationship marketing plan uses e- mails, post

         11  cards, phone calls and an interactive CD to

         12  encourage and remind applicants to take the exam.

         13                 We would like to note that

         14  notwithstanding a decrease in the number of

         15  applications we have received, our positive message

         16  is being communicated, and interest in the NYPD as a

         17  career choice remains strong, evidenced by an

         18  average of 8,000 calls per month to our 212- RECRUIT

         19  line, and almost one million visits to the

         20  Recruitment Section's web page last year.

         21                 In fact, our advertising campaign,

         22  which is created and placed in partnership with the

         23  Bernard Hodes Group, won eight awards for excellence

         24  last year, including the prestigious Dansker Award

         25  for the recruitment ad campaign judged the best
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          2  overall in North America.  In the advertising world,

          3  this is the equivalent of winning the Oscar for Best

          4  Picture, and is a testament to both the excellence

          5  of our advertising campaign and the strength of the

          6  NYPD as an employer.

          7                 Once an applicant takes and passes

          8  the police officer exam, our Applicant Processing

          9  Division is responsible for selecting the most

         10  qualified police officer candidates, ensuring that

         11  every pertinent aspect of the candidate's background

         12  is thoroughly investigated and reviewed.  Again, I

         13  invite you to visit the NYPD's website, at

         14  www.nypdtrainees.com, which outlines in great detail

         15  the steps that a candidate must take in order to be

         16  found qualified and appointed as a police officer

         17  recruit, and offers guidance on many topics,

         18  including preparing for the physical ability exam,

         19  gaining the required college credits, even finding

         20  an apartment and/or a roommate among their fellow

         21  recruits. The applicant investigation can be a long

         22  and daunting process, and in the interest of

         23  retaining the candidate's interest and maximizing

         24  his or her chances of success, the Applicant

         25  Processing Division provides assistance and
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          2  counseling for candidates through its Candidate

          3  Relations Unit.

          4                 We would like to close by affirming

          5  again the absolute commitment of the NYPD to

          6  ensuring the safety of the people of this City, and

          7  our hope that we will soon be able to expand our

          8  ranks to meet the challenges that lie ahead.  Thank

          9  you, and we will be pleased to answer your

         10  questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         12  Chief.  I know you have to say that you hope to

         13  expand your ranks, and you'll continue to do more

         14  with less, but what you really want to say is that

         15  you need more police officers to continue to do your

         16  job.

         17                 Quite frankly, I'm very concerned now

         18  that you will be able to continue to do more with

         19  less.  I think we've reached a point where we're at

         20  crisis level, as I've said, and I think that's

         21  evident by the testimony of the district attorneys

         22  here a few weeks ago that misdemeanor arrests are

         23  way up.  If you look at graffiti, you can see that's

         24  way up.  Again, these are the quality of life crimes

         25  that you're not able to concentrate on because you
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          2  have to concentrate on the most serious crimes, and

          3  you have to focus your limited resources where they

          4  do the most good.

          5                 Let's start with, I'll follow your

          6  testimony through, you discuss the attrition rates.

          7  You testified that the overall attrition rate is two

          8  percent.  Now, that two percent, does that even

          9  through all the years of service?  Is it skewed

         10  towards higher earlier amounts, lower amounts at the

         11  end of the career? How does that two percent play

         12  out?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I'm Deputy

         14  Chief John Gerrish.  I'll answer that.  The

         15  attrition rate is skewed to the early years.  In

         16  fact, about 80 percent of the attrition is officers

         17  within their first two or three years, 18 percent or

         18  so in the Police Academy, that's part of it.  Then

         19  within their second or third year.  After that, the

         20  attrition rate slows down dramatically.  After five

         21  years, an officer can vest for retirement, but they

         22  usually don't.  What we see leaving at that point is

         23  maybe for another job, Fire Department or another

         24  police agency, but the numbers are fairly small.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Have you
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          2  noticed any trends in attrition rates over the last

          3  few years?  I know you said they have sort of

          4  remained steady, but that's not what we're hearing

          5  from the unions, from the police officers on the

          6  streets.  We're hearing that many more officers at

          7  all levels, we're talking about after the Academy

          8  now, are leaving for higher paying jobs elsewhere.

          9  Have you noticed that sort of trend anywhere?

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Yes, the

         11  numbers might be up because as a factor of hiring

         12  larger classes, but the rate of most officers

         13  resigning within their first year or two has been

         14  steady for the last 20 years or so.  If they're

         15  going to resign for whatever reason, whether it's

         16  academic performance, whether it's this job is just

         17  not for them, there's a variety of reasons why they

         18  might leave, while they're on probation, they might

         19  just say this is too strenuous.  But the rate has

         20  stayed fairly constant overall when you look at the

         21  percentage to the whole force of about two percent.

         22  That's been pretty constant for about 20 years now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We talked about

         24  an 18 percent attrition rate in the Academy.  How

         25  many do we expect to be graduating this July?
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          2                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  In the vicinity of

          3  about 1,100 of police recruits will graduate this

          4  July.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And for the

          6  incoming class after July, Ray Kelly testified that

          7  you only have between 700 and 800, is that correct?

          8                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We anticipate hiring

          9  between 700 and 800 July 9th.  We may be able to

         10  hire an additional maybe 200 a couple of weeks

         11  later.  So you're talking tops 1,000.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And that's

         13  before the attrition rate?

         14                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  That's before the

         15  attrition rate kicks in.  There is a number of

         16  people that drop out within the first three or four

         17  weeks very quickly.  I think primarily the reason

         18  is, like mentioned before, they realize it's not for

         19  them, or for financial reasons also.  That's from

         20  the Academy class I'm talking about only.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I don't have a

         22  problem with attrition.  This is a good thing that

         23  people go into the Academy, and you weed them out.

         24  That's what's supposed to happen, but you hopefully

         25  start with a number where you can wind up with the

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  number we need.  If you're starting out with

          3  hopefully 1,000 before we lose 200 of them, that's,

          4  as I said, when we need 2,800 this July, what do we

          5  expect the need to be in January when we're only

          6  putting maybe 800 on the streets?

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It will probably be

          8  about the same. We anticipate losing perhaps another

          9  800 to 1,000 in attrition from July through January,

         10  so it would probably be about the same, about 2,800

         11  or 3,000 need.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  What is the

         13  total number of officers that attrit every year?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  It's roughly

         15  in the 3,000 range the last couple of years.  Again,

         16  it's the overall attrition, retirements and

         17  resignations have been averaging in that 3,000 range

         18  for the last couple of years, and again, that

         19  corresponds to the high classes that we hired 20

         20  years ago.  It follows a cyclical pattern every 20

         21  years.  You're going to expect if you hire a large

         22  class, you'll expect large numbers retiring 20 years

         23  later.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm trying to

         25  do math here in my head, but let me get some help
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          2  from the professionals.  How many police officers

          3  are on the force right now?  Present head count?

          4                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Present headcount,

          5  total uniformed is just under 36,000.  It's about

          6  35,900.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We're losing

          8  3,000 per year, replacing them with classes of about

          9  800 to 1,000, so if we lose 3,000 next year and

         10  replace them with two classes of 800, we will be

         11  down to what, 34,000 police officers?  Is my math

         12  correct?  Is that a scenario you guys are

         13  anticipating?

         14                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, it depends.  If

         15  we hire up to 800 or 1,000 in July, we might lose

         16  close to that amount by January, hire that again, so

         17  by July we might be in the same boat we are again

         18  now, a year from now.  We're hiring twice a year to

         19  offset the attrition losses, so it doesn't get

         20  exacerbated.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  In 1993, the

         22  numbers that the Police Department released, showed

         23  that we had 35,400 officers.  In 1992, the numbers

         24  are a little bit skewed because you didn't merge yet

         25  with the Transit and Housing, but roughly 31, 32,000
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          2  police officers.  We are quickly nearing those

          3  levels.  We're nearing the level of police officers

          4  we had when crime was running rampant in our

          5  streets.

          6                 As I said before, I see this as an

          7  impending crisis, and that's why we called this

          8  hearing.  Again, I'm not blaming anybody sitting at

          9  that table.  Don't get me wrong, but we're here in

         10  the room to call attention to these very troubling

         11  facts, which I was not even aware of until I started

         12  to prep for this hearing.

         13                 Let me just go through your testimony

         14  a little bit. I want to discuss how this lack of

         15  manpower is affecting your ability to keep us safe.

         16  You discussed a patrol allocation plan on the bottom

         17  of page two and how you assign people to precincts.

         18  Now, let's start with first the numbers of people at

         19  precincts, because we've all been given precinct

         20  numbers, and we've all been told that those numbers

         21  are not the true numbers.

         22                 Now when you assign people to

         23  precincts, and we have a number say of 200 people at

         24  any given precinct, does that number include police

         25  officers out on disability?
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          2                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  On restricted duty?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Restricted

          4  duty, sick leave, disability.

          5                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Yes, it includes

          6  people that are on restricted duty or limited

          7  capacity.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  What percentage

          9  of officers would you say in any precinct at any

         10  time would be in those categories?

         11                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It fluctuates.  I

         12  don't have the hard number on that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Does that also

         14  include people who are assigned to Operation Impact

         15  and Operation Atlas, which is our anti- terror duty?

         16                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Operation Impact,

         17  those numbers, those personnel are assigned to the

         18  precinct in which the impact zones are.  For

         19  example, in the 115 Precinct there's an impact zone

         20  on Roosevelt Avenue.  Those officers are assigned in

         21  the 115 Precinct.  They're in the 115 Precinct's

         22  head count.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Those are the

         24  new cadets that you're using?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  The new cadets that
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          2  we're using, correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I've always

          4  been told that Operation Impact is a mix of new

          5  cadets and officers that are pulled from other

          6  precincts.

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, not pulled from

          8  other precincts, but what we do supplement the new

          9  cadets with would be we would concentrate gang

         10  enforcement maybe in that area and some narcotics

         11  enforcement.  Those numbers are not in the precinct

         12  headcount. Those stay resident in their commands.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And what about

         14  Operation Atlas?

         15                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Atlas is an overtime

         16  program you're talking, so if it's an overtime

         17  program, it's not a separate unit. It's drawing

         18  people on overtime.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  How about

         20  taskforces like you just mentioned?  You mentioned

         21  gang taskforce and there's a night life taskforce,

         22  and I assume there's some sort of gun taskforce. The

         23  name is always changing.  Those officers are

         24  assigned where?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  They have their own
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          2  commands and their own command codes and then

          3  they'll do citywide enforcement or boroughwide

          4  enforcement depending on what their mission is.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Are they

          6  included in precinct strength?

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, they're not.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You said that

          9  this patrol allocation model, patrol car model,

         10  determines how many patrol cars are necessary to

         11  respond for calls.  What is the average that has

         12  been determined that any precinct would need at any

         13  given time regarding RMP's on the street?

         14                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It varies according

         15  to the time of day.  A midnight tour would require

         16  less cars than say a busier 4 to 12 tour, maybe a

         17  day tour, so the numbers vary from tour to tour.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I would assume

         19  so, so give me the average then on your average day

         20  tour for your average precinct.  How many radio cars

         21  should be available?

         22                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It depends again.  It

         23  can go anywhere from a slow command, maybe four cars

         24  would be fine to up to six, seven cars in some

         25  commands.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So then if

          3  we're heard this Committee has heard from many

          4  reputable sources that certain precincts during

          5  certain day tours are forced to go with two RMP's,

          6  that would be a problem?

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  That's a little

          8  misleading.  I don't see any two patrol cars on

          9  average for day tours.  Most day tours have a lot of

         10  police officers, whether they're in a patrol car or

         11  a special school car or a special youth officer or

         12  foot patrol.  It varies, and that's a precinct

         13  commander's decision on how to deploy the resources,

         14  but we haven't found response times suffering. We've

         15  haven't found any indication that that's an on

         16  average in any particular precinct for the course of

         17  a year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Well, again,

         19  your response times are not suffering when it comes

         20  to major crimes, and you deserve to be commended for

         21  that.  You're managing to even cut response times

         22  when it comes to responding to crimes in progress

         23  and some of the most serious crimes.  But I don't

         24  think there's any Council Member up here who hasn't

         25  heard of people in their district who have had to
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          2  wait three hours for a police officer to respond to

          3  a car accident, or to receive a past crime report,

          4  again not your fault, but because your limited RMPs

          5  are actually responding to crimes in progress, there

          6  is nobody to come to lesser crimes.

          7                 Operation Impact, you mentioned that.

          8  Now, if you need 2,800 people, and you have 700, 800

          9  coming out of the Academy, isn't that going to have

         10  a tremendous effect on Operation Impact, which you

         11  state is critical in your crime fighting

         12  capabilities?

         13                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It's not going to

         14  have such an effect with this class.  Maybe in

         15  future classes it will because what we would

         16  normally do is to take some of the officers that are

         17  in the existing impact zones and re- allocate them

         18  now to precincts, and replace them with the newer

         19  recruits with maybe two- thirds of the class coming

         20  out.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I want to

         22  introduce some of our Council Members who have shown

         23  up.  We have Council Member Addabbo, Council Member

         24  Gentile, Council Member Stewart, Council Member

         25  Garodnick and Council Member Yassky.  Thank you all
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          2  for showing up.

          3                 The lack of police officers, how is

          4  it affecting other ranks?  How many detectives do

          5  you have now, and how does that relate to the amount

          6  of detectives you've had in the past?

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, it affects all

          8  ranks.  The attrition is not concentrated solely in

          9  one rank, police officer or detective or sergeant or

         10  above.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm reading

         12  from a recent article, in which Detectives Endowment

         13  Association, President Michael Palladino said that

         14  the number of detectives has dropped since September

         15  11th from 7,000 to 5,500.  Are those numbers

         16  accurate?

         17                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  They're probably

         18  about accurate, but you have to consider prior to,

         19  in the late 1990's we had large, large scale

         20  narcotics initiatives that were funded with

         21  detectives. We don't have many of those initiatives

         22  anymore, so, yes, the authorized number would have

         23  come down on detectives.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You said could

         25  have or did it?
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          2                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It should have come

          3  down.  We don't have all those narcotics initiatives

          4  that we had in the late 90's. We've focused our

          5  narcotics mission on precinct- based modules

          6  focusing after cases and felony narcotics, but that

          7  was planned that way though.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So since

          9  September 11th you're up from over 40,000 police

         10  officers to it would seem to be under 35,000,

         11  detectives from 7,000 to 5,500.  I assume that

         12  percentage is the same over the ranks.  Do you know

         13  of any other police force in any major city since

         14  9/11 that has decided that the best strategy to keep

         15  us safe would be to downsize the department?  Is

         16  there any other major police force which has been

         17  downsizing as opposed to increasing its force?

         18                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I can't answer that

         19  question, but we have, I mean, our downsizing is not

         20  a result, per se.  You added 800, thank you for

         21  helping us get the extra 800 officers, but it's a

         22  difficulty in hiring.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Chief Pineiro,

         24  I have to put you on the spot for a second.  Again,

         25  I've termed this an impending crisis.  In 2002, the
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          2  Public Arbitration Panel found that the evidence

          3  persuades the majority of this panel that the NYPD

          4  uniformed force is shrinking in size, and this is a

          5  very real crisis.  Ray Kelly just the other day gave

          6  almost similar language. In December, 2004 though,

          7  in connection with the arbitration proceedings you

          8  testified, and you can correct me if I'm wrong, that

          9  the NYPD did not have a problem with recruitment and

         10  retention.  I'd like to give you a chance to explain

         11  that, and ask why you would have said that back then

         12  if clearly we are having a problem.

         13                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I'd be glad to answer

         14  that.  I'm going to give you a few numbers.

         15  Applications submitted for exams, in October of '04

         16  we had 35,039 people who filed to take the police

         17  officer exam.  In February of '05 we had 28,737

         18  people who filed to take the police officer exam,

         19  and in June of '05 we had 29,027 who filed to take

         20  the exam.

         21                 Then the new contract was announced,

         22  as you remember, on June 27, 2005, and in October

         23   '05 there was a precipitous drop in applications

         24  down to 21,124.  In February of '06 we had 23,275

         25  applications to take the exam, and in June of '06 we
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          2  had 21,000.  In October '06 we had 23,377 and in

          3  February of '07 we had 22,435.  Now just let me give

          4  you a little what that means because obviously not

          5  everybody who files to take the exam shows up to

          6  take the exam.

          7                 In October of '04, 10,015 people

          8  showed up to take the police officer exam.  In

          9  February of '05, 8,286 people showed up to take the

         10  police officer exam, and in June of '05, 8,183

         11  people showed up to take the police officer exam,

         12  which was in the early part of June of '05.  Then

         13  the new contract was announced on June 27, 2005, and

         14  in October of '05 we have a precipitous drop in the

         15  number of people showing, down to 5,146.  February

         16  of '06 we have 5,459 to show up, June of '06, 4,801

         17  people show up, October of '06, 4,997 people show

         18  up, in February of '07, 5,078 people up.           So

         19  you can see that prior to the announcement of the

         20  new contract, we were averaging roughly 9,000 people

         21  showing up to the take police officer exam, and past

         22  the announcement of the new contract, we're

         23  averaging roughly 5,000 people take the exam.  So if

         24  you cut down the number of people showing up to take

         25  the exam by half, that is an impact on our
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          2  recruitment.  That was not taking place prior to

          3  June 27, 2005.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  One would think

          5  that you asked me to ask you that question.

          6                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, I did not.  I

          7  just happened to be prepared for it.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We had no

          9  discussion on this. In fact, I thought you'd be mad

         10  at me for asking that question.

         11                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Not at all.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Clearly, we

         13  have either a leak or something.

         14                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, I'm glad you

         15  asked me the question.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm glad you

         17  had the answers. It's good that you didn't have to

         18  get back to me on that.  All right.  Well, I can

         19  see, and I will ask the people who follow you for

         20  their opinion on those numbers.  They're much more

         21  versed in this than I am, but there does seem to be

         22  a huge change from '04 and '05 through '06 and '07,

         23  of about 50 percent less people showing up to take

         24  the exam.  Let's get you on record now then, would

         25  you classify what's happening right now as a crisis
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          2  situation?

          3                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I think we need to

          4  increase those numbers sooner rather than later

          5  because, as you say, we don't want to fall and go

          6  back to 1992, so I agree.  Yes, we have a serious

          7  recruitment problem in NYPD right now, which we

          8  didn't have prior to June of '05.  That's why I

          9  testified the way I did at the arbitration hearing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All right,

         11  well, we've already made some progress.  I have a

         12  lot more questions, but I have a lot of Council

         13  Members here, so I'll go now to Council Member

         14  Monserrate.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         16  you, Mr. Chair and Chief and all the panel.  So that

         17  we're clear that your testimony is that there is a

         18  crisis currently in the Department's recruitment

         19  retention?

         20                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We're having serious

         21  problems recruiting and filling our staff.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Serious

         23  problem.  You'll call it problem.  I'll say serious

         24  crisis.  I want to just follow up on the arbitration

         25  issue that was just outlined by our Chair. You
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          2  testified that post the contract, the people showing

          3  up to the test reduced significantly, is that

          4  correct?

          5                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Yes, in absolute

          6  numbers the people showing up for the test reduced

          7  by almost half, that's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And when

          9  was that contract finalized?

         10                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, the contract

         11  was announced on June 27, 2005.  I don't think it

         12  applied to the class that went into.  As a matter of

         13  fact, I know it did not apply to the class that went

         14  in July of '05, but it applied to the class that

         15  went in on January of '06, but in any event, the

         16  contract being announced June 27th of '05 people

         17  knew by October of '05 when they showed up for the

         18  exam what the starting salary was, and obviously, in

         19  my opinion, that had a very harmful effect yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         21  Well, this is my query really is that when you

         22  testified in 2004, as outlined by our Chair in the

         23  arbitration, you testified that there was no crisis

         24  of recruitment retention, but it appears that the

         25  headcount was still going down.  In other words, in
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          2  2002 in that arbitration hearing from the time you

          3  testified, the headcount went down 1,348 less. So

          4  the question is not just recruitment, which you

          5  addressed I think effectively, but the question

          6  really is recruitment and retention.

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, let me just say

          8  this, prior to that contract, every hiring class

          9  that we had, we were meeting the budgeted headcount.

         10    Every class we had prior to the June '05

         11  announcement of the contract negotiations, we met

         12  with the hire of that class what that budgeted

         13  headcount was required of the Police Department at

         14  that time.  And we met it for every class.  It has

         15  been within the last two or three classes that we've

         16  had problems meeting the budgeted headcount.  So

         17  Chief Gerrish may be able to address what the

         18  budgeted head counts were for those particular

         19  classes, but we met the budgeted head counts.

         20  Obviously, we have no control.  I mean, the budgeted

         21  headcount is something that's --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Are you

         23  saying that the Department intentionally wanted to

         24  reduce the number of police officers?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, I'm saying we met
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          2  the budgeted head counts.  Prior to June of '05,

          3  every class that we hired we met what the budgeted

          4  headcount was for that class.  We met it. We have

          5  not been meeting the budgeted headcount the last two

          6  or three classes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay, so

          8  the budgeted headcount was still resulting in

          9  between 2004 and 2002, 1,348 less police officers.

         10  So your testimony the Department is testifying to

         11  this Committee today that you're meeting your

         12  recruitment goals, but the Department continues to

         13  shrink, then the question is, is this done

         14  intentionally by the Department, the Department set

         15  out a policy to reduce the total headcount of the

         16  Department?

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I'll answer

         18  that.  The Department did not set out to reduce the

         19  headcount.  The budgeted headcount had been reduced

         20  from where it was in 2000 and 2001, Fiscal '02 and

         21   '03 I believe reduced it.  One year it reduced by

         22  1,900 positions.  Another year it reduced it by

         23  1,600 positions. We subsequently had the headcount

         24  increased, but in those two years that you're

         25  talking about the authorized headcount of the New
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          2  York City Police Department had been reduced as part

          3  of the budget process.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Who

          5  determined that?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  The Police

          7  Department doesn't set its authorized strength.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay, so

          9  who did?  OMB? The Administration?  I mean, the

         10  numbers dropping, someone has to take

         11  responsibility.

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So you're

         14  saying the Police Department didn't do it, then who

         15  did it?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well, it was

         17  the budget.  It was the budget that was adopted.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Who does

         19  the budget?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well, the City

         21  does the budget, and the Council adopts the budget,

         22  and we have to live with it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay,

         24  well, the reason I'm a little perplexed is that, I

         25  want to go back to the 2004 arbitration panel.  Now
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          2  49 days after the testimony that you, Chief,

          3  presented at this panel, the Police Department

          4  removed salary savings from the budget, and those

          5  were significant reductions, totaling, I'm going to

          6  give you a few figures, $67 million in '05, $92

          7  million in '06 and $76 million for each year

          8  thereafter.

          9                 So it's difficult for me to

         10  comprehend that if the shrinking of the Police

         11  Department was not done by design and intention, I

         12  don't know what other conclusion we can come up

         13  with. Every year we have millions and millions of

         14  dollars in salary savings, but the Department is

         15  testifying that we're not intentionally reducing the

         16  Police Department.  I'm trying to bring those issues

         17  to a front.

         18                 In other words, millions of dollars

         19  in savings every year, surpluses in budgets, "salary

         20  savings."  That probably should have been used to

         21  give our police officers a decent raise, because I

         22  don't think any one of you can live on what the

         23  average police officer is making now.  But we

         24  continue to pay them less and have less police

         25  officers, and then we come back supposedly in the
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          2  black in every Fiscal Year with salary savings.

          3                 So really my question is more so than

          4  even the recruitment issue, though I believe we have

          5  a recruitment issue, is the recruitment retention

          6  issue.  Why is it that the Police Department

          7  continues to get smaller every year?  Can anyone

          8  answer that question?  Why is it that the total

          9  headcount numbers continue to get smaller every

         10  year?

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well, to go

         12  back to 2000, from where we were in 2000 with 40,000

         13  police officers, the authorized budgeted headcount

         14  had been reduced.  It had been reduced I told you,

         15  1,900 one year, another 1,600 in another year, so we

         16  had an authorized budgeted headcount reduction of

         17  about 3,000, 3,500.  We subsequently got that

         18  increased.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  We got federal

         21  funding to increase it.  We went to two hires a

         22  year.  We increased by 730 officers.  Then we got

         23  800 added to the budget the last go around, the last

         24  Fiscal Year.  So we are trying to increase the

         25  budgeted headcount again.  But the fact remains that
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          2  it had been reduced.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  To say that

          5  the Police Department purposely reduced it, no, it's

          6  part of the budget process.  Every agency has to

          7  live with the budget.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

          9  Okay, so then let me ask you this.  I have to come

         10  back to these figures.  $67 million in salary

         11  savings in '05, $92 million in '06, $76 million in

         12   '06.  How many officers can we hire with all those

         13  millions of dollars?  To hire 1,000 more police

         14  officers, what does it cost the Department a year, a

         15  Fiscal Year?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I'm not the

         17  budget person, so I don't want to lock in a number,

         18  but it would probably, the cost to the City or to

         19  the Police Department?  The cost to the City is

         20  probably, I don't know, $70,000 per officer

         21  somewhere around there. I don't know those numbers

         22  exactly.  I'm not the budget person.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Is there

         24  anyone on the panel that could answer that question?

         25    How many officers could we hire in a Fiscal Year
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          2  if we have $67 million extra dollars?  No one can

          3  answer that question?  Okay, I would assume that we

          4  can hire a good number of officers with the surplus

          5  savings, the salary savings that the Department

          6  keeps reporting because they're reporting

          7  consistently that there are salary savings.  We're

          8  not hiring them.  We're not paying the cops, so you

          9  can't come back to me and say, well, we gave the

         10  officers a decent raise, so that they could live a

         11  decent lifestyle.  You can't say that to me.  But we

         12  also can't hire them, and I'm really perplexed about

         13  this.

         14                 The next question I have is in 2004,

         15  as I understand, the City needed a waiver from the

         16  federal government headcount requirement under the

         17  cops program to continue to receive federal

         18  assistance.  Can anyone testify to that?

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Yes, I don't

         20  believe it was a waiver.  The waiver was not to not

         21  meet a headcount goal.  What it was, we had the

         22  ability, the opportunity to hire with federal grant

         23  money an additional 730 police officers.  It was

         24  sort of a legacy that had been left over from

         25  several years prior.  We had this grant opportunity,
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          2  this window of opportunity to hire 730 officers.

          3  The old formula for the cops hiring grant funding

          4  was that you had to add your existing headcount.

          5  You had to add that on top of it.  At the time, we

          6  could not have accommodated in the Police Academy.

          7  We would have had to hire 3,200 police officers to

          8  accommodate that.  We couldn't do it, so we asked

          9  the federal government, the cops office, if we could

         10  go to two hirings per year and have a reduced goal

         11  to meet.

         12                 So what we would do is rather than

         13  attrit down all 3,400 and hire all at once, let us

         14  attrit some down, hire 1,700 in January, hire

         15  another 1,700 in July.  So the maximum headcount

         16  peak we would hit would not be the same as if you

         17  had had added the 730 to what our budgeted headcount

         18  was, but the average staffing levels would be about

         19  the same, and the guidelines agreed to that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I have

         21  just two more questions to wrap up, the first one

         22  being regarding the headcount. Today, you testified

         23  the Department's headcount today is hovering a

         24  little over 35,000 today, is that correct?

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Correct.  It's
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          2  about 35,900 today.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  All

          4  right, and how many of those are assigned to

          5  Transit?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Off hand,

          7  about I don't know 2,600, 2,700 in that range.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  2,700?

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  In that range.

         10

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  In

         12  Housing?

         13                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well, we've

         14  been doing a lot of restructuring with Housing, and

         15  a lot of housing developments now are being policed

         16  by the actual precincts, so Housing might hover

         17  around 2,000 in that range.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So

         19  between the both agencies somewhere around 5,000?

         20                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Give or take.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         22  But in 1991, before the merger, the Department was

         23  about 31,000 from the numbers that I have.  If

         24  anyone disagrees with that, please respond.  At that

         25  time, it was described as dangerously low.  I think
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          2  that the Chairman also alluded to this.  There were

          3  7,000 total police officers in 1991 in Transit and

          4  Housing, 31,000 in the NYPD alone, then came along

          5  the merger and some more hirings.  At the high

          6  point, the Department was over 40,000 strong  Your

          7  testimony today is that there's 35,000 police

          8  officers in what used to be termed City PD 2,700 in

          9  Transit and 2,000 in Housing.  We have lower numbers

         10  of police officers today than we did in 1991, is

         11  that not correct?

         12                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We've already

         13  acknowledged the fact that we're 5,000 police

         14  officers short.  I mean, we've acknowledged that in

         15  my testimony.  We're 5,000 police officers short

         16  from October of 2000.  We admit to that.  We

         17  acknowledge that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.

         19                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I mean that's not --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I just

         21  wanted some clarity, Chief.

         22                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We're 5,000 police

         23  officers from October of 2000, and a decrease of 12

         24  percent.  Acknowledged, admitted.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  We
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          2  appreciate your testimony, and I understand the very

          3  difficult position that you are in.  In fact, I said

          4  this to the Police Commissioner. Unfortunately,

          5  you're bearing the brunt of a lot of our questions

          6  because the Administration has, in my opinion, by

          7  design ensured the downsizing of our Police

          8  Department.

          9                 Just today and yesterday, we're

         10  reading about terrorist plots, of pipelines

         11  throughout our city, and I don't know what type of

         12  sense it makes to continue to downsize our Police

         13  Department and pay our police officers the low wages

         14  we have when we are boasting $4 and $5 billion

         15  budget surpluses.  Now I understand that you're not

         16  OMB, and you're not representing the Mayor's Office

         17  per se, but understand that our questions directed

         18  to you to elicit these facts so that we're clear,

         19  the City of New York is clear, the media is clear.

         20  I don't want you to be upset because my line of

         21  questioning is, at times repetitive.  The point here

         22  is that the Department is smaller than it has ever

         23  been. 1991, the City was having deficits and major

         24  crises, our Department was larger then than it is

         25  now.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  You're

          3  mistaken on that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay,

          5  you're saying that that was a mistake.  In 1991,

          6  Chief Pineiro just testified that there were more

          7  police officers because prior to the merge, you had

          8  31,000 NYPD.

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  No.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  What were

         11  the numbers in 1991?

         12                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well, in 1990

         13  when we started with Safe Streets, we had about

         14  25,000.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That's not

         16  including Transit and Housing.

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Not including

         18  Transit and Housing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  25,000,

         20  so that's what you had?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  And in

         23  Transit and Housing you had 7,000?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Maybe not

         25  quite that much. Back in 1991, there might have been
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          2  another 5,000 or 6,000 there. Now we have just under

          3  36,000, so we do have more officers.  Our budgeted

          4  headcount is 37,838, so it's not like we're

          5  intentionally trying to keep the headcount low.

          6  We're trying to recruit officers to meet our

          7  budgeted head count.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  What

          9  would you point as the number one reason for your

         10  recruitment retention problems?

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I believe the

         12  Chief mentioned it in his testimony.  The low

         13  starting salary has got to be a problem.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Starting

         15  salary.

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Would you

         18  also add to that the fact that Suffolk pays -- what

         19  does Suffolk County Police Department pay their

         20  police officers?

         21                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  They pay more

         22  than we pay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         24  $90,000? $100,000?

         25                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Roughly around
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          2  there.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  What does

          4  Port Authority pay their police officers?

          5                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I don't have

          6  that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  About

          8  $20,000, $25,000 more than a topped out police

          9  officer in the NYPD?

         10                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  It's possible.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         12  So, you know, I think police officers who have the

         13  opportunity, NYPD officers who have the opportunity

         14  to go to Suffolk or to the Port Authority or to

         15  Nassau, obviously, logically are going to do so when

         16  they can have a better quality of lives for

         17  themselves and their families. Again, I'm directing

         18  the position to you.  You know what I'm saying.  I

         19  don't think anyone on this panel here could live on

         20  $25,000 a year.

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We don't disagree,

         22  Council Member.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

         24  you.  Thank you very much to the Chief and to the

         25  panels and the Department for politely responding to
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          2  my inquiries.  Again, I don't want to direct it to

          3  you though.

          4                 I have some dispute with the

          5  arbitration hearing of 2004 and the Department's

          6  testimony.  I think that in that testimony, had we

          7  been a little bit more clearer about the fact that

          8  there perhaps wasn't an issue with recruitment, but

          9  there was a retention issue, perhaps the arbitrators

         10  would have decided differently having a better

         11  contract that would not put us in the position that

         12  we're in.

         13                 In other words, had the prior

         14  contract been a better contract, and attracted more

         15  candidates to the Police Department, maybe we

         16  wouldn't have the issue that we have today of

         17  recruitment and retention.  So to that degree, I

         18  would put some responsibility on the brass of the

         19  Department, and when we go forward at these

         20  arbitration hearings, to please be clearer about

         21  your testimony and the real impact that it will

         22  have, not only on the contract of that year, but the

         23  hirings subsequent.  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         25  Council Member. Just to answer some of your
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          2  questions.  The starting salaries in Nassau are

          3  $34,000, in Suffolk $57,800, max out in Nassau at

          4  $91,000, close to $98,000 in Suffolk.  We usually go

          5  by 10 to 12 officers per million, so $60 million

          6  would be about 6,000 officers.

          7                 You were absolutely right about the

          8  reductions in force.  If you remember, it's

          9  something that I was accused of being like Chicken

         10  Little about years ago when the Mayor was holding

         11  the Police Department harmless from any cuts, but

         12  cutting every other agency.  I said that's not good

         13  enough.  That's just we're not cutting them.  We're

         14  not replacing the officers that are trading out and

         15  the force is lowering every year.  It was something

         16  that was not well known and is known now thanks to

         17  you.

         18                 But even though they were not being

         19  cut, we were not replacing the officers that were

         20  leaving at an adequate rate, and we allowed our

         21  force to go down from 2001 from 40,000 and change to

         22  where we are now.  Now we're attempting to fix that

         23  problem, but we don't have the recruits.  But it was

         24  allowed to get this way.

         25                 I want to ask a quick question before
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          2  we get to some of my colleagues about possible

          3  solutions.  I know that Erik Dilan, who's not here,

          4  has put in a bill about allowing officers to get

          5  college credits while they're on the force, which

          6  Ray Kelly has opposed in the past.  That's something

          7  Speaker Wolin had put in years ago.

          8                 There have been other ideas such as

          9  signing bonuses at the completion of the Academy,

         10  increased funding for uniforms or equipment, perhaps

         11  some sort of loan forgiveness, perhaps low interest

         12  loans, perhaps housing help.  Are there any of these

         13  options which you have been looking at or that you

         14  would support or not support for any reason?

         15                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, some of those

         16  things have been considered.  I mean, they're

         17  financial issues.  They may be collective bargaining

         18  issues that cannot be instituted unilaterally.

         19  Listen, we will consider anything that will increase

         20  our recruitment efforts.  That goes without saying.

         21                 There is a loan program in place for

         22  the recruits who enter the Academy so they can pay

         23  for their uniforms.  That is in place, where

         24  recruits can borrow money and then pay it in

         25  installments to pay for their uniform and their
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          2  equipment while at the Police Academy.  That's in

          3  place and has been reinforced the last two or three

          4  years.

          5                 You mentioned Police Commissioner

          6  Kelly is adamant about the educational issue, and I

          7  believe he's right because I think we want to bring

          8  these individuals into the Academy with the 60

          9  college credits already, so they can handle the

         10  Academy material better and so we can turn out a

         11  better police officer right off the bat.  There

         12  might be some logistical problems in waiting five

         13  years for somebody to get 60 college credits.  Those

         14  things are something that we will look at.  We'll

         15  look at anything that's reasonable and that we can

         16  get financial support to do to increase our

         17  recruitment, and we appreciate any support that we

         18  could get in that area.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I also believe

         20  the Ray Kelly was right, which is why we never had a

         21  hearing on that bill.  But that was when we weren't

         22  in this crisis mode we're in now, and as you said, I

         23  think we need to look at everything again.  I will

         24  have our attorneys work with yours about what we can

         25  enact out of those different ideas that we mentioned
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          2  and what we're allowed to do and what we're not

          3  allowed to do, and perhaps we can come up with

          4  something.  Let me now go to Council Member Gentile,

          5  to be followed by Addabbo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman, and good morning, Chief and to all

          8  Deputy Chiefs.  Thank you very being here.

          9                 Chief, I listened to your testimony

         10  about how you decide staffing, and use of personnel

         11  resources that you have during your opening

         12  statement.  I took particular interest in the fact

         13  that you talked about Operation Impact and the fact

         14  that it's used particularly in violence prone areas

         15  of the City.  You certainly have shown good

         16  statistics on it, and certainly it's been a

         17  successful program.

         18                 However, I'm going to take a

         19  different approach on Operation Impact, something

         20  that I've talked to the Commissioner about on many

         21  occasions and something that the media doesn't

         22  normally focus on when you talk about programs like

         23  Operation Impact.

         24                 It comes down to this.  I believe,

         25  given what we've heard this morning, and what crisis
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          2  that we're in, that programs like Operation Impact,

          3  because the goal is to bring the crime numbers down

          4  in the high crime precincts, disproportionately

          5  affect the staffing and personnel in those lower

          6  crime precincts throughout the City.  As a result,

          7  we are doing a disservice to the people who live in

          8  those lower crime precincts given the fact that the

          9  emphasis, and certainly the violent crime is

         10  something to be considered, but on a sustained,

         11  continued basis, those people who live in the lower

         12  crime, and when I say lower crime, I'm talking about

         13  the violent crime that Operation Impact seeks to

         14  address. Those precincts that don't have those

         15  statistics may be one homicide, two homicides, maybe

         16  three homicides in a year, consistently have to do

         17  more with less because the shift in personnel to

         18  Operation Impact.  I believe that has been the case

         19  for some time.  It's not getting better.  It's

         20  getting worse, and I think it's a disservice to the

         21  people who live in those precincts.

         22                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  If I can

         23  address that.  As the Chief mentioned in his opening

         24  remarks, when we implemented an impact in 2003, it

         25  was originally a 90- day initiative and we knew
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          2  that, yes, back then in 2003 you're focusing a lot

          3  of resources in a small number of areas that we only

          4  wanted to do it temporarily. So what we did was, we

          5  waited for six months then.  So when the new class

          6  came out, the new class of recruits, they can go

          7  into Impact, and those existing Impact people don't

          8  stay where they were.

          9                 It's basically now, instead of

         10  getting a brand new recruit out of the Academy, of

         11  our recruits graduating the Academy in July, 1,100

         12  or so, we might put 700 or 800 in Impact, and take

         13  700 or 800 out of Impact and allocate them to the

         14  precincts.  So it's the same as if we had just taken

         15  this whole class and allocated them to the

         16  precincts.  So we're keeping a cadre in Impact, but

         17  the remainders are going, so these other precincts

         18  will get an equitable share of the resources that

         19  are being deployed.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But

         21  Operation Impact in those precincts where it

         22  operates continues on a consistent basis, am I

         23  correct?

         24                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  We identify

         25  precincts.  It's not the same precinct over and over
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          2  again.  We take a thorough analysis of where the

          3  crime hot spots are occurring.  Is there a trend or

          4  a spike in crime in a particularly small area that

          5  would be conducive to having a large concentration

          6  of officers to address shootings and robberies, et

          7  cetera.  And we leave them there for a short period

          8  of time.  Then we allocate the existing recruits

          9  that are in there now to all the precincts.

         10                 Come next January when this July

         11  comes out, we might have to reconsider thinking

         12  about Impact.  You can have fewer Impact zones

         13  because we don't want to shortchange precincts.  We

         14  want to give every precinct an equitable share, and

         15  replenish their attrition, make sure that they can

         16  do the job.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Well, when

         18  you say, let's make sure they can do the job, the

         19  reason I bring this up is because many of the

         20  statistics in the lower crime precincts don't

         21  usually make the news, don't usually get the media

         22  attention.  I believe that the focus has been so

         23  much on bringing down the signature crimes, that

         24  many of the other issues that affect the day- to-

         25  day quality of life for New Yorkers goes unaddressed
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          2  given the fact that we have the staffing problems in

          3  the precincts.

          4                 For example, many of the precincts

          5  have park issues that are not being addressed

          6  because of staffing.  Many precincts have traffic

          7  issues that are not being addressed.  Many of the

          8  precincts have school release time issues that don't

          9  get addressed on a consistent basis because OF the

         10  lack of staffing.  There are precincts in this City

         11  that have issue with safety of senior citizens that

         12  don't get addressed.  There are property crime

         13  issues that are not addressed on a consistent basis

         14  because of the lack of personnel in the particular

         15  precinct.

         16                 In certain precincts in our City

         17  there are particular anti- terror security issues

         18  that are not addressed as we saw over the weekend,

         19  with the pipeline.  Although it's not my district,

         20  it's near my precinct where we have a pipeline going

         21  right underneath towers that house residents in the

         22  65th Street Railyards right near the railyards that

         23  are not manned, that are not patrolled, that are not

         24  checked.  We have security issues on the Verrazano

         25  Bridge in my district that are not addressed on a
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          2  consistent basis.

          3                 These are issues that continue to be

          4  present in precincts throughout the City, and

          5  particularly into the southern tier of Brooklyn

          6  where you have a lot of park land in the southern

          7  tier of Brooklyn.  Those issues like parks, like

          8  traffic, like security, like senior citizens, like

          9  property issues, don't get addressed because the

         10  lack of personnel.

         11                 Chief Pineiro talked about thinking

         12  outside the box. I need to hear something about

         13  where you're thinking outside the box short of

         14  adding personnel that is really the solution here,

         15  is adding personnel, but short of that, addressing

         16  the issues that don't make the headlines but affect

         17  the quality of life of New Yorkers every single day.

         18

         19                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well, like you

         20  said, adding personnel is the best way to solving

         21  these problems, but we will be looking at solving

         22  them.  We do address quality of life concerns in

         23  every precinct in the City.  We have the 311, we

         24  have clean sweep locations.  But, yes, would we like

         25  to have more resources? Absolutely, we'd like to
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          2  have more resources.  We know we have to address it.

          3    We have to address narcotics violations on the

          4  street. We have counter- terrorism concerns that we

          5  have to address.  We try to allocate the existing

          6  resources we have in the most equitable fashion so

          7  that everybody gets their fair share.  The pie is

          8  only so big.  Would we like the pie to be much

          9  bigger?  Yes, we would like the pie to be much

         10  bigger, but we're doing what we can, and we try to

         11  allocate them equitably to every precinct in the

         12  City.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I guess what

         14  I'm suggesting here is that those precincts are not

         15  getting their fair share given the fact of these

         16  lower level crimes that are happening and the

         17  concerns and the problems.  You mentioned four to

         18  six RMPs as being the average.  I know, and I think

         19  Chairman Vallone had mentioned that, that we have

         20  been told that there are some precincts that operate

         21  at certain shifts, and I can't say which shifts, but

         22  there are certain shifts where they're operating

         23  with two RMPs in the entire precinct, two RMP's in

         24  the entire precinct. You know when you get that

         25  situation, you're going to have problems.  It may
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          2  not be homicides, but it will be quality of life

          3  problems that you're not going to be able to

          4  address.

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR MORALES:  Does that

          6  happen on occasion?  I can't say it doesn't.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  No,

          8  consistent.

          9                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I know on

         10  average, there's no precinct I think on average that

         11  averages two.  Somebody might be saying patrol cars,

         12  but there might be special cars out there as well.

         13  But we do have resources, and every precinct is

         14  allocated their share of the resources to do the

         15  job.  However, a precinct commander, we don't from

         16  Headquarters dictate to a precinct commander exactly

         17  how to deploy the resources that we allocate to

         18  them.  We let each precinct commander deploy

         19  resources to best address the conditions in their

         20  precincts.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But when

         22  precinct commanders tell us, and they've said that

         23  over time, that they're down 20 percent.  When

         24  you're down 20 percent, that's pretty difficult when

         25  you have the same precinct to patrol, and you're
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          2  down 20 percent in staffing, wouldn't you agree?

          3                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I agree.  Like

          4  I said, we know we need resources.  We know we're

          5  down in staffing.  And we'd like to address it.

          6  Absolutely.  That's why we're intensely trying to

          7  recruit officers.  We know we need to hire about

          8  2,000 officers, or 2,800.  We don't have them in the

          9  pipeline right now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Well, it

         11  seems to me, and I'll just end on this and one other

         12  point, that these factors that you use to allocate

         13  personnel and sustain operational component, staff

         14  support factor, the public safety factor, don't seem

         15  to adequately even begin to address the issues in

         16  some of those precincts.  So whether it's Operation

         17  Impact or some other factor that we're intentionally

         18  just trying to bring the high numbers down for the

         19  benefit of the media and the benefit of the Police

         20  Department itself, that may be so.  But nevertheless

         21  these factors that you mentioned don't seem to be

         22  operating to give the other precincts their fair

         23  share.

         24                 Let me just finish because you

         25  mentioned the fact, Chief, that notwithstanding a
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          2  decrease in the number of applications, you go on to

          3  talk about how wonderful the recruitment campaign

          4  has been and the awards that you have won for the

          5  recruitment campaign.  It just struck me that you

          6  can say all that, but when the rubber meets the

          7  road, it's the number of applications that you get

          8  that really determines the success of your

          9  recruitment effort, isn't it?

         10                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I understand that,

         11  and I agree, but what I'm saying is that we are

         12  doing everything capable to put out the best quality

         13  advertising campaign, the best quality recruitment

         14  campaign.  We are facing a $25,000 entry level

         15  salary.  There's no getting around that.  There's no

         16  getting around that, and we do the best we can.  I

         17  mean, we're not just saying, listen, we give up,

         18  $25,000, we should stop advertising, we shouldn't

         19  put in our best efforts.  You always do your best,

         20  and the Police Department we are noted and

         21  recognized for doing our best at everything we're

         22  given to do, and we're doing that.

         23                 We went out and we got the best

         24  company that we could get out there after a bidding

         25  process was held.  That company went on to win
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          2  numerous awards last year showing that our

          3  advertising campaign is probably the strongest and

          4  the best in the country.

          5                 So the issue is not our advertising

          6  or recruitment efforts.  We acknowledge we have a

          7  problem with the entry level salary.  We acknowledge

          8  that.  We acknowledge we're 5,000 police officers

          9  short from our October, 2002 headcount.  We

         10  acknowledge that.  That has an impact on our

         11  staffing, and no question about it.  We want to

         12  change that and turn it around.  We're doing the

         13  best we can.  We're not going to compromise our

         14  recruitment efforts in terms of the quality of

         15  people we're hiring.  We're not going to lower our

         16  standards.  We could do things like changing the

         17  number of college credits to come on the job and

         18  increase the pool.  We're not going to do that

         19  because we want a certain level of education for

         20  every candidate that comes in.   A certain level of

         21  character background competence.  We're not going to

         22  change any of that. These changes could be changed

         23  overnight.  We choose not to do so because we don't

         24  want to shortchange the people of the City of New

         25  York, and we don't want to shortchange the Police
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          2  Department.

          3                 It's the salary.  We have a low entry

          4  level salary, which makes it extremely difficult to

          5  hire the number of people in the numbers that we

          6  have to hire.  You have to understand, this is not a

          7  Police Department that hires a couple of hundred

          8  police officers every year.  We have to hire 3,000,

          9  3,200 police officers every year.  And it becomes

         10  very difficult when we have the standards that we

         11  want to have and the entry level salary that we

         12  have.  We acknowledge all that, and we agree.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Mr.

         14  Chairman, it just struck me that it was one line

         15  about notwithstanding decreasing the number of

         16  applications, then the list of awards.  I don't take

         17  away from your awards, but it almost seems to me

         18  like you're talking about how good food the was on

         19  the Titanic.  We have a real problem here.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  The chef was

         21  trying.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Yes.  Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Let me thank so

         25  far all the Council Members asked questions from
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          2  their incisive, on point questions and strangely

          3  enough that doesn't always happen.  Let's continue

          4  with that.  Each Council Member should have 10

          5  minutes at least.  We've got three more asking

          6  questions, and perhaps a second round to Hiram.

          7                 Before we do, let me just say,

          8  Council Member Gentile, I agree with you on

          9  Operation Impact.  That's never been my favorite

         10  thing.  Number one, it means less recruits coming

         11  into your precinct, my precinct.  It isn't fair to

         12  our neighborhoods. Number two, I always thought it

         13  was like stamping on roaches in one corner of a

         14  room, and assuming they weren't just to move to the

         15  other parts of the room, the ones that got away.  So

         16  you've made it successful, and I congratulate you on

         17  that, but it's never been my favorite thing.

         18                 Also, you mentioned the pipeline.  I

         19  don't think anything underscores the need for more

         20  booths (sic) in the ground than that pipeline.  Not

         21  too long ago I brought some press members to an area

         22  in my district which pretty much had unfettered

         23  access to natural gas pipeline into LaGuardia

         24  Airport, and Port Authority said since it's outside

         25  the airport, even though it has clear view of the
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          2  airport and the pipelines, it's not our

          3  responsibility.  It's the local precinct's

          4  responsibility, and if they've got two cars

          5  responding to robberies, nobody is patrolling the

          6  area outside the airports.  Okay, Council Member

          7  Addabbo.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.  I want to thank your Committee for

         10  holding this hearing and your staff.  To the NYPD

         11  personnel, thank you very much for being here today

         12  and for your testimony today.

         13                 I don't want to expand on a couple of

         14  things already mentioned by my colleagues, so I'll

         15  try and be brief, but this issue of obviously low

         16  salary and recruitment has permeated beyond the

         17  walls of City Hall.  It's gone into our civic

         18  meetings and our block associations.  This is a

         19  topic of conversation that even I have faced with my

         20  residents.

         21                 Also, in light of the JFK terror plot

         22  regarding a pipeline, that does pass through my

         23  district, 50 feet away from a daycare, a block away

         24  from a school.  My residents now are quite

         25  concerned, and for you to list on the first page as
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          2  a serious challenge, whether we call it a crisis or

          3  not, we understand it's a serious, serious problem

          4  in the City.  Now my residents, as I see them, no

          5  matter where, at a block association, civic meeting

          6  or even a local grocery store, this is a topic of

          7  conversation.  This is the number one conversation

          8  right now in my district is how do we get more cops

          9  on the street?  How do we work with the low starting

         10  salaries?  So I wish you all the best on that

         11  endeavor on behalf of my constituents, and as Chair

         12  of the Labor Committee for the City Council, I wish

         13  you well on that issue because that is a major,

         14  major issue.

         15                 But a little bit more detail about

         16  recruitment because I'm not hearing that are new

         17  recruitment plans.  Is the NYPD going to rest on our

         18  laurels and the award winning recruitment that has

         19  already taken place?  Or are you considering, and

         20  you said yes, but if in detail we can hear what the

         21  NYPD is considering as far as new recruitment plans

         22  other than the low starting salary, what else is

         23  going on?  Because I'm not hearing details at this

         24  point.

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I'll give you the
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          2  details, but I mean in terms of something new, we

          3  have done everything capable. I'm going to have

          4  Inspector Morales maybe basically give you a break

          5  down of what we do in terms of our recruitment

          6  efforts. Trust me, we have left no stone unturned.

          7  We are probably the strongest, best recruitment

          8  police agency in the country, and I say to you

          9  without any reservation.  There is no police agency

         10  in the country that is able to recruit the talent

         11  that we're able to recruit in the numbers that we're

         12  able to recruit it in spite of our entry level

         13  salary.  So, I mean, I mentioned before about the

         14  website.  I'll have Inspector Morales go into detail

         15  of the website, and everything we do in terms of, we

         16  go throughout the country, throughout the City,

         17  throughout the State, to military bases, we go to

         18  colleges.  I'll have him go into very much detail.

         19                 But you know something, a lot of

         20  these things we have been fine tuning this over the

         21  last three, four five years, and what we've done now

         22  in terms of recruitment is unprecedented. It has

         23  never been done by any other agency or by this

         24  Police Department before.

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR MORALES:  Good
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          2  morning.  First, I'd like to start by saying I'm

          3  proud of the work my guys are doing. I think we do

          4  have a very strong recruitment program.  We

          5  basically focus on five main areas:  College

          6  recruiting, military recruiting, internet

          7  recruiting, recruiting at large events, in transit

          8  areas, and diversity recruiting.  Diversity

          9  recruiting is incorporated in the first four, and

         10  that's accompanied by a very strong and

         11  comprehensive professional advertising campaign.

         12                 Our college recruiting efforts,

         13  because you need 60 credits to become a police

         14  officer, that's our primary tool.  We set up table

         15  top presentations at colleges throughout the City.

         16  We have fostered good relationships with many

         17  professors who allow us to do college presentations

         18  to their students.  We recruit around college sports

         19  to get more athletics involved in our programs.  We

         20  have over 12,000 posters displayed on 50 campuses

         21  throughout the City during any given campaign.  We

         22  have strong college internet sites that we recruit

         23  on like experience.com, aftercollege.com, the

         24  nationalassociationofcollegeeducators.com.  We also

         25  around the colleges we put about 400 billboards
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          2  announcing our recruitment efforts.

          3                 We also do exams outside many

          4  colleges outside New York City.  We give the test in

          5  New York City three times a year, and we accompany

          6  that by doing exams outside the City.  We have given

          7  exams in the last year at the University of Buffalo,

          8  at the University of Albany, University of

          9  Massachusetts, Hofstra University.

         10                 Then our recruiting in the military

         11  we give the test at military bases throughout the

         12  country.  Last year alone, we gave out tests at Fort

         13  Stewart, an army base in Georgia.  We gave our test

         14  in Camp Lejeune Marine Base in North Carolina, Camp

         15  Pendleton, the marine base in San Diego, Fort Hood,

         16  the biggest army base in the country in Killeen,

         17  Texas.  We like to recruit from the military because

         18  of the extensive skills they have, their leadership

         19  skills, the accountability, the professionalism, and

         20  if you don't have 60 college credits, we waive that

         21  if you have two years' military, so that's another

         22  reason we focus on the military.

         23                 We do a lot of advertising within the

         24  military circles on military websites and in

         25  military newspapers.
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          2                 Internet recruiting, because we have

          3  a factoring website, we have a lot of information on

          4  our website, we definitely integrate a lot of

          5  internet recruiting driving business towards our

          6  website.  In 2006, we advertised on over 1,000

          7  websites, and they produced over 350 million

          8  impressions.  In 2006, we nearly had one million

          9  visits to the recruitment website alone, not the

         10  Department's website, the Department's recruitment

         11  home page.

         12                 The websites that we do, we do order

         13  job sites, monster.com, monstertrack,

         14  careerbuilders, yahoo hotjobs.  We do a lot of the

         15  law enforcement sites, a lot of the diversity sites,

         16  the bigger websites like aol and google, and we do

         17  auto newspaper sites too, dailynews.com,

         18  newyorkpost.com.

         19                 With the large events in Transit

         20  recruiting, we attend about 80 to 90 job fairs a

         21  year.  A lot of job fairs are sponsored by different

         22  colleges and universities.  We also go to job fairs

         23  that are sponsored by the NAACP, Latino job expos,

         24  Asian diversity, career expos and women for hire job

         25  fairs.  We do about 80 job fairs a year.
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          2                 We also set up tabletop presentations

          3  at the major transportation hubs throughout the

          4  City, Grand Central, Penn Station, Times Square and

          5  a lot of the subway locations.  That's also

          6  accompanied by an aggressive transit campaign,

          7  advertising campaign.  At any given time, we might

          8  have advertisements in over 570 subway cars and over

          9  400 subway platforms.  We also do 150 bus shelters,

         10  and, as I mentioned, the 400 billboards.  We also do

         11  posters in over 250 health clubs throughout the

         12  tristate area, so we definitely have a strong

         13  message out there.  With the radio, we had for

         14  Fiscal Year '07 we had over 4,200 radio spots on 15

         15  stations throughout the City, on urban stations and

         16  rock stations and top 40 stations.

         17                 We have done a few new things since

         18  2005.  We give the test three times a year.  We have

         19  set filing periods for those exams.  In 2004 and

         20  2005 and even in 2006, the filing periods had a

         21  start and end date.  For example, for the October

         22  exam the filing period may have started on July 2

         23  and ended on September 9, so the average filing

         24  period might have been 80 to 90 days.  Then a test

         25  was administered in October.  Then the filing period
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          2  for the February exam would start in October and end

          3  in January, and that was the pattern.

          4                 With a good relationship through the

          5  Department of Citywide Administrative Services,

          6  DCAS, we have now what we call continuous filing,

          7  meaning that you could file for exams 24 hours a

          8  day, 7 days a week on the internet and filing is

          9  open 365 days. So we basically increased filing

         10  periods by 29 percent, by 83 days. And we still have

         11  shortfalls of recruiting, so we have given the

         12  opportunity for applicants to apply for a test any

         13  day of the year, and we supplement the three City

         14  exams, as I said, with those exams outside New York

         15  City.  For this current Fiscal Year, we did 16 of

         16  those exams, so for Fiscal Year '07 we did 16 exams

         17  outside New York City and three in New York City.

         18                 We have a very aggressive what we

         19  call relationship marketing plan. If you file for an

         20  exam, you're going to get anywhere from 10 to 12 e-

         21  mails.  Those e- mail messages are, the first

         22  message is a welcome message from the Police

         23  Commissioner. Then we have a message on the

         24  different benefits we have, the retirement benefits,

         25  the salary.  We talk about the different medical and
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          2  prescription benefits we have.  We talk about the

          3  mobility opportunities because we have over 200

          4  specialized units in the Department.  We talk about

          5  the promotional opportunities to become a detective,

          6  a sergeant, a lieutenant.  And we talk about the

          7  tutorials that we offer to the people.  We talk

          8  about our Police Cadet program.  We also talk about

          9  our language initiative because in addition to

         10  looking for diverse applicants, qualified

         11  applicants, we also look for applicants that can

         12  speak different languages to work in the different

         13  neighborhoods we have and also to help us gather

         14  intelligence for counter- terrorism.

         15                 So we have, I think, very focused

         16  recruitment program.

         17                 In addition to the relationship

         18  marketing program that I mentioned with the 10 to 12

         19  e- mails, you also are going to get one or two

         20  postcards to remind you that the test is in two

         21  weeks and to look at the admission card that DCAS is

         22  sending out.

         23                 The third thing we do is you might

         24  get a phone call from us, from a live recruiter or

         25  from an automated system reminding you that the test
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          2  is up, and last year we created an interactive CD

          3  ROM that we sent out to every applicant about a

          4  month before the exam.  The CD ROM has a wealth of

          5  information about the Academy experience, about the

          6  hiring process, things of that area.  So those are

          7  the things that we do, and I could talk for hours,

          8  you can see.  But those are some of things that we

          9  do for our recruitment efforts.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Chief, I

         11  appreciate that, and again, I appreciate the detail

         12  because I was looking to see what new plans had been

         13  implemented since the two consecutive lower class

         14  sizes that were put out, so again, I appreciate the

         15  detail. I think we have identified that the low

         16  starting salary is really what needs to be worked

         17  on, and I'll reiterate that.  I wish you well in

         18  working that out for the sake of the people of the

         19  City. Thank you very much.

         20                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Since you asked a

         21  question, I just want to take up a little bit more

         22  of your time.  I'm going to have my Inspector

         23  Salowski speak about our retention efforts.  Once

         24  somebody files for the exam, what are the things

         25  that his shop does in terms of ensuring that the
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          2  people go through the process.  They have filed,

          3  they have taken the exam, they've passed it.

          4                 MR. SALOWSKI:  Good morning.  My name

          5  is Walter Salowski.  I'm the commanding officer of

          6  the Applicant Processing Division.

          7                 With applicant processing, one of the

          8  main issues is once DCAS forwards our list of

          9  passers, they come into our system. They're met

         10  right after the exam.  This is when the applicant

         11  processing starts nowadays.  We meet them at the

         12  exam sites.  We set up a table.  We answer questions

         13  at the exam sites.  We go over the benefits.  It's

         14  piggybacking on what Marty's people do over in

         15  recruitment.  From there, we also set up a candidate

         16  relations unit.  What's candidate relations?  It

         17  really covers just about everything from any

         18  questions a candidate might have about the Police

         19  Department to reopening if they decided to withdraw

         20  from a prior exam, to helping them fill out forms

         21  and get proper information to continue in the

         22  processing.

         23                 Additionally, what we do is we hold

         24  career seminars. What these careers seminars are

         25  twice per hire season.  So prior to January, prior
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          2  to July, we'll have seminars in the Academy where we

          3  invite people down from the various colleges and

          4  universities from the City.  We try to help the

          5  folks get that 60 credits.  We put them in the right

          6  direction.  We offer educational counseling at these

          7  career seminars.  We had one recently 536 people

          8  appeared who are now in the pool that wouldn't have

          9  been there.

         10                 In addition to that, again

         11  piggybacking on recruitment, they go out and they

         12  give these off site exams at various military bases

         13  and colleges outside the City.  What we'll do is we

         14  have a quest program we call it, to expedite and

         15  introduce the candidate, and for the ease of the

         16  candidate, we'll bring them in and over the course

         17  of a three- day weekend we'll start their

         18  processing.  We'll get them in for the agility test.

         19    We'll get them in for their psychological and

         20  medical testing and go over the booklets that we

         21  have to fill out and the pertinent information that

         22  has to be retrieved from the candidate.  All this in

         23  conjunction with recruitment, as ease the

         24  candidate's process and transition into the Police

         25  Department.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.  I

          3  thank my Council Members before I forgot.  Let me

          4  thank the Administration.  I know this wasn't a

          5  hearing that they were thrilled about us having for

          6  sending you, and all of you for your forthcoming

          7  answers.  I want to thank you for that.

          8                 Chief Pineiro, before we're done, not

          9  right now, I'm going to give you a chance to make an

         10  advertising pitch into the cameras because I want to

         11  do our part to try to solve this, so get one ready.

         12  I know most of the T.V. stations won't show it, but

         13  74 has to, and you'd be surprised the amount of

         14  people who watch it, so get one ready.

         15                 Before we go over to Garodnick, I

         16  just want to ask one other question.

         17                 We've all talked about the low

         18  starting salary. What effect do you think the low

         19  base salary has on your recruitment efforts?  Is

         20  that also a part of the problem?

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  The low starting

         22  salary has definitely and unequivocally has had a

         23  tremendously negative impact on our recruitment

         24  efforts.  It's evidenced by the number of people

         25  filing for the exam.  It's evidenced by the number
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          2  of people showing up for the exam.  It's evidenced

          3  by the fact that, like I mentioned before in my

          4  testimony, we have 8,000 phone calls that go to NYPD

          5  recruitment on a daily basis.  We have one million

          6  hits on our recruitment website.

          7                 The interest is there, there's no

          8  question about it. This is a premiere, prestigious

          9  organization that offers tremendous career

         10  opportunities, tremendous opportunities for

         11  advancement, tremendous opportunities for developing

         12  skills and an opportunity to serve the public,

         13  probably one of the noblest public service

         14  professions there is.  However, it is tough to have

         15  people come on this job at $25,000 a year.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We spoke about

         17  the 25, but what about the low base pay, the 55 I

         18  believe it is, or something like that?  The maximum

         19  pay, do you think that also can affect your

         20  recruitment efforts?

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I mean everything's

         22  relative. Obviously, we have to get them in first,

         23  you know what I'm saying? Let's get them in, let's

         24  get a good salary that is going to draw people in.

         25  Obviously, the more you pay police officers, the
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          2  more likely people are going to come and join this

          3  agency.  The more you pay police officers over the

          4  long- term of their career, the more likely that

          5  people are going to join the Department.  That

          6  stands to reason.  But we have to start somewhere,

          7  and at least let's look at the entry level salary if

          8  nothing else first.  Because I think it's evidenced

          9  by the numbers, are having a very definitive impact

         10  on our ability to bring people into the job.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member

         12  Garodnick?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Thank you

         14  very much.  Mr. Chairman, I wanted to first of all

         15  thank you for your leadership and the way that you

         16  handle this Committee in all matters before it, and

         17  to all of you, thank you for your testimony today.

         18                 I just want to pursue a couple of

         19  quick questions, which may be very simple.  I share

         20  the concern about the fact that we're 2,000 short

         21  and that in the last two classes we've missed the

         22  budgeted headcount.  Just a basic one, we are today

         23  budgeted for a headcount of how many, and what is

         24  the actual?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  The budgeted
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          2  headcount is 37,838, and we have just under 36 right

          3  now, so we have 35,500, 35,900, somewhere around

          4  there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  35,900

          6  roughly.

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Roughly 35,900, yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay.  So

          9  going to the numbers then that, Chief, you gave to

         10  us a little while ago about the difference between

         11  the applications and those who actually show up for

         12  the exams.  What it looked to me was it was a

         13  precipitous decline followed by a slower decline and

         14  maybe a slight uptake at the very end in terms of

         15  the number of people looking for the applications

         16  and then the people who are actually showing up for

         17  the test.

         18                 Going back to the numbers that you

         19  gave for 2004, you said that 35,039 people had asked

         20  for the application to go in, is that accurate?

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, 35,039 had

         22  filed to take the police officer exam.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Filing to

         24  take the exam?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Right, and I know
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          2  those people --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Just tell

          4  me what that means first.

          5                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It means that you

          6  basically you filled out an application, either

          7  through writing or through the internet expressing

          8  your interest to take the exam for that particular

          9  date.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Got it.

         11  Okay, so then the people who showed up for that

         12  test, you said the date of that one was what again?

         13                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  October of '04.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay,

         15  let's say October '04, 35,039 people signed up or

         16  applied to take the test.  Then how many people

         17  actually?

         18                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  10,015 showed up to

         19  take the test.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  10,015.

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay, and

         23  then the next figure you gave I think was a 28,000

         24  roughly.

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  737.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  And that

          3  was in when of '05?

          4                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  February of '05.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  February

          6  of '05.

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  28,737.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  And around

          9  8,000.

         10                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  8,286 actually showed

         11  up and took the exam.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay, so

         13  here's my question for you.  It sounded to me that

         14  the change in salaries were announced in June 27th

         15  of '05?

         16                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  But there

         18  was a drop between October of '04 and February of

         19   '05, some four months before that happened.

         20                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Yes, and it went up

         21  again in June of '05.  Listen, the numbers, you

         22  know, what happened in October of '04 is that we

         23  were pretty much kicked in the internet filing

         24  application.  Right around that time or a little

         25  earlier we put a process in place where people could
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          2  file through the internet, which made it extremely

          3  easy for people to file.  So there was an uptake.

          4  People filed through the internet.  We had just

          5  basically, that was shortly after waiving the filing

          6  fee.  So there was a waiver of the filing fee, so

          7  maybe there was an uptake in that also.  Before

          8  that, I think for one examination period we had a

          9  filing fee.  We did away with it.  I mean, the

         10  bottom line is that we were averaging roughly 30,000

         11  people prior to the contract filing, and then it

         12  went down to about roughly 22,000, and in terms of

         13  people actually taking the exam, we had roughly

         14  9,000 people on average taking the exam prior to the

         15  contract, and it went down to 5,000.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Right.

         17                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Those numbers are

         18  very meaningful because if you fall short by 4 or

         19  5,000 every exam, it means that basically the pool,

         20  we would have had at the end of those five exams, 25

         21  or 30,000 more people in the pool.  So as a result

         22  of that drop, that announcement of the contract,

         23  between October of '05 and February of '07, if we

         24  had maintained the numbers that we had prior to

         25  that, we would have had probably an another 25,
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          2  26,000 people in the pool to be processed.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  The pool

          4  being the applicants, not the people who showed up.

          5                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, the pool meaning

          6  the people who showed up.  If you look from October

          7  of '05 to February of '07 we averaged roughly 5,000

          8  people taking the exam.  Prior to that, we were

          9  averaging roughly 9,000 people taking the exam, so

         10  if you lose 5,000 people every examination period,

         11  at the end of five exams, the pool is short by

         12  25,000.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  I got you.

         14                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  So 25,000 is going to

         15  impact our ability to fill the applicants, see

         16  that's where these numbers are cumulative.  If you

         17  take them one at a time, it means nothing, but if

         18  you take them cumulative over a period of five, six,

         19  seven exams, I mean, you got to remember we give

         20  three exams a year.  The numbers build up.  Our job

         21  pool builds up very quickly.  You end up with a pool

         22  that's 25,000, 30,000 people less to choose from for

         23  a hire.  That's big numbers, 30,000 people, less

         24  that you can choose from.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  I would
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          2  say those are very significant numbers, and I guess

          3  all I was pointing out was that it looked like there

          4  was a change even before the contract was announced.

          5    So what I was curious about was whether it was

          6  that drop in late '05 after the contract that you

          7  are using as your basis to conclude, and I think not

          8  an unreasonable conclusion, by the way, that it is a

          9  salary issue as opposed to any other issue, whether

         10  it was these numbers specifically, or whether you're

         11  basing it on other things as well.

         12                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It was a salary issue

         13  definitely in my judgment.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  I

         15  understand that's the conclusion.  I understand the

         16  conclusion, but I just wanted to know whether you

         17  were basing that conclusion on the drop in

         18  applications and show ups.

         19                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Yes, that is correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay.

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  That's what I'm

         22  basing my conclusion on.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay, now

         24  the difference in salary between late '05 and say

         25  October '04, just so I understand so that when I'm
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          2  thinking like an applicant, somebody who would fill

          3  out the paperwork and consider taking the test, what

          4  was the actual dollars in difference of starting

          5  salary?

          6                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, let me just say

          7  the class that went in in July of '05 went in at

          8  $40,000.  That was the class that was allowed to go

          9  in at $40,000.  The class that went in in October

         10   '05 went in at $25,000.  Now I think the classes

         11  that went in in February '05, June of '05 I think

         12  the salary may have been, correct me if I'm wrong, I

         13  think in the vicinity of $37,000, $36,000, I don't

         14  know, is that correct?  So $37,000, $36,000.  The

         15  February of '05 class probably, to my recollection,

         16  I could be wrong, I think the salary was in the

         17  vicinity of $37,000.  We had a higher January of

         18   '05, so I think the salary at that point in time

         19  was in the vicinity was $36,000, $37,000.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  So it was

         21  a difference of about --

         22                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It went up to $40,000

         23  for the July '05 class, but then it dropped after

         24  that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  So it was
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          2  a difference of between $12,000 to $15,000 depending

          3  on what period we're talking about?

          4                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Yes, correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay, and

          6  just finally here, have you surveyed, obviously,

          7  there is a vast difference between the number of

          8  people who put in for an application to take the

          9  test and those who actually show up for it.  In

         10  fact, even in February of this year I think you

         11  should 22,435 filled out an application, and only

         12  5,078 turned up.  Have you surveyed those 17,000

         13  people who decided not to come and actually take the

         14  test?

         15                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We have looked at

         16  that.  We have done some surveys with that.  A lot

         17  of that has to do with, like I mentioned before, the

         18  easiness which people can file for this exams.  It's

         19  extremely easy to file.  There's no filing fee.  It

         20  can be done over the internet.  Some of it has to do

         21  with, we get a lot of people that file from out of

         22  state.  In essence, are probably not likely to

         23  relocate to New York City or not likely to relocate

         24  to New York City at the salary that we're paying

         25  people. Because we do get a large number of people
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          2  from out of state in our class of people, the tri-

          3  state area, Massachusetts, Connecticut, New Jersey.

          4  But we also get people from Florida, Texas, but

          5  obviously the lower the salary, the more likely that

          6  these people are not going to be relocating.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  I

          8  understand all that, but I guess what I wanted to

          9  understand was whether the Police Department has

         10  ever formally, particularly in the situation we're

         11  in and we're now seeing the second year in a row

         12  where we've missed the --

         13                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  We have done some

         14  studies, and we have a study that we've done

         15  recently that's, I mean, I'm not going to talk about

         16  it because it was basically done at the request of

         17  the Police Commissioner for the Police Commissioner,

         18  and it's going to be presented to him within the

         19  next couple of weeks or a month or so.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  But it was

         21  a study of this issue?

         22                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  The issue of why

         23  people --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Why people

         25  are not turning up.
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          2                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, not turning up,

          3  or not, in other words, not coming for the exam, or

          4  even after they took the exam, not going through the

          5  process, correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Okay, and

          7  then the last thing that I wanted to understand is,

          8  it would seem to me no matter where somebody was

          9  filling out the application from, whether it's

         10  Florida or Texas or wherever anybody's coming from

         11  who might be interested in serving in the Police

         12  Department, that they would know the starting salary

         13  when they filled out the application even if it's

         14  very easy, even if it's a free application to fill

         15  out. Why do you think that there is such a drop off,

         16  I mean, there has been drop off consistently both

         17  before and after the contract that we described, but

         18  it seems to be even more pronounced now between the

         19  22,000 and the 5,000 who actually turn up.  What do

         20  you think is going on there?

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  The application, it

         22  takes a minute, two minutes, three minutes to fill

         23  out an application on the internet.  I mean, you

         24  know it's very easy.  Any kid that could on the

         25  internet, can fill it out.  I'm not sure why they --
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          2  you're saying why they fill out and then don't come

          3  in and take the exam?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Well, why

          5  the number of people are going down who actually

          6  turn up.

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, post- contract?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Yes.

          9                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I mean, the salary.

         10  In my opinion, the salary.  I keep saying this goes

         11  back to the salary.  The interest is there.  We're

         12  getting a million people hitting the website.  We're

         13  getting 8,000 people calling in NYPD recruiting on a

         14  daily basis.  Listen, once they find out what the

         15  salary is, even if they do file for the exam,

         16  they're less likely to file the exam.

         17                 Listen, I challenge any other police

         18  agency, any other law enforcement agency in the

         19  United States of America, federal, state or local,

         20  to have the numbers of people that apply to this in

         21  terms of what the Police Department gets.  No other

         22  agency in the country, whether they're federal,

         23  state or local law enforcement gets the number of

         24  people that apply and show up to take entrance

         25  examinations the way the NYPD does.  Nowhere near. So
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          2  I mean, there is a tremendous amount of interest in

          3  this agency.  Obviously, it's not for everybody.

          4  People may fill out applications for a number of

          5  reasons and then not carry it through, not go

          6  through with it.  The interest in this agency is

          7  there.  This is a prestigious agency.  This is a

          8  premiere law enforcement agency in the country.  The

          9  salary is definitely having a negative effect on our

         10  ability to attract people, no question about it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  Well,

         12  thank you very much for your time, and we obviously

         13  look forward to working with you in taking any steps

         14  we can to up those numbers and to fill the budgeted

         15  headcount.  I thank you for all of your service.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         18  Council Member Garodnick.  For scheduling purposes,

         19  we have Council Member Stewart to ask questions

         20  next, to be followed by a brief follow up by Council

         21  Member Monserrate.  Then this panel will be done.

         22  We'll be taking a few minutes break to be followed

         23  by the PBA.  I'm sure they'll just take a few

         24  minutes to agree with everything that was said, and

         25  then they'll be done.  Then we will have the
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          2  Independent Budget Office who will either verify or

          3  dispute all of the numbers were said by both sides

          4  to be followed by an expert, Gene O'Donnell from

          5  John Jay to give his take on this.  So with that, we

          6  go to Council Member Stewart.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.  I just have a few questions.  Could you

          9  tell me which other large city that has a salary of

         10  $25,000, a starting salary?  Any other large city in

         11  the United States?

         12                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I don't believe any

         13  other large city in the United States has a $25,000

         14  starting salary.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just want

         16  to clear that up because I think we made a mistake

         17  there, whoever made the mistake in initiating that,

         18  they should realize that.  The average recruit, it's

         19  about 32,000, you said, 3,200 a year, or 32,000 a

         20  year?  What is it?

         21                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  The entry level

         22  salary is $25,000 for --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  No, I'm

         24  talking about the recruit.  How many people do you

         25  recruit a year, about 3,200?
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          2                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, we try to hire,

          3  as was mentioned before, about 3,100, 3,200 people a

          4  year to basically maintain the rate with our

          5  attrition.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  And the

          7  attrition is about the same.  And that attrition --

          8                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Our hiring is

          9  predicated by our attrition.  I mean, we basically

         10  look to our attrition, and then we then determine

         11  what number we need to hire to meet our budgeted

         12  headcount, which is commensurate with that

         13  attrition.  We have a particular budgeted headcount.

         14    We have an attrition, and then on the particular

         15  date, we have to hire a number of people to meet

         16  that budgeted head count.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So that

         18  attrition is basically mainly based on the fact that

         19  people have reached the age where they can retire,

         20  et cetera.  But what about the fact that they now

         21  are seeing that they can get a better salary

         22  someplace. Is that taken into -- shown any light

         23  that that is happening now, and you're going to have

         24  to do much more recruiting?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, the better
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          2  salary has no impact on the attrition obviously.

          3  People make their own reasons, I mean, if they leave

          4  within the first five years, they may leave because

          5  of the salary.  But I mean, we talked about it when

          6  the attrition rate was in different ranks.  That's

          7  not necessarily determined by attrition.  It's

          8  determined by the pension.  People leave, but the

          9  problem is that the people are leaving at a probably

         10  larger rate or a greater rate than the people that

         11  are coming in, which is basically causing the

         12  shortfall that we have in terms of meeting our

         13  headcount because people are leaving because they

         14  may have been hired 20 years ago, and they're now

         15  coming up on a pension.  They're leaving for

         16  provider reasons within the five years, and now the

         17  number of people that are coming in that we're able

         18  to recruit is not commensurate with the number of

         19  people leaving, which is basically making us fall

         20  short in our ability to hit the head count.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Some years

         22  ago we advanced the idea of moving offices from

         23  behind a desk to the streets, et cetera in

         24  recruiting civilians to do some of the jobs.  Does

         25  that have any effect on the figures that you gave us
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          2  a while ago about saying that $65 million less in

          3   '05 and then it's $97 million less in '06, does

          4  that have any effect on that?

          5                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Commissioner Kelly

          6  testified on May 21st.  I assume you're referring to

          7  the civilianization program?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right.

          9                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Like he said at his

         10  testimony, our civilianization program is almost

         11  completed.  Basically, we were given the 400

         12  additional civilian positions authorized by the

         13  Mayor.  A total of 394 were hired between June of

         14   '06 and April of '07, and the remaining six

         15  positions are expected to be filled in the next

         16  month.  So the Police Department has met its

         17  obligation regarding civilianization.  As far as we

         18  have been allowed to hire. And we have done that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes, I just

         20  want to see if that has any effect on the figures

         21  that you gave in terms of that reduction.

         22                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  No, civilianization

         23  basically what it does is the police numbers would

         24  be the same.  It's just that we're now taking our

         25  police officers and putting our police officers on
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          2  patrol as opposed to doing an administrative

          3  clerical function, and that police officer is being

          4  now replaced by a civilian.  But it has no impact on

          5  the number.  The number, whether the police officer

          6  is working on patrol or is working indoors, the

          7  number is the same, that doesn't change.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  In terms of

          9  recruitment, the policy.  We here talk about folks

         10  who may not be citizens but we recruit them and send

         11  them to Iraq.  They fight over there, serve their

         12  time.  Some of them serve two terms, and they come

         13  back here, and they try to be policemen and they

         14  can't.  What's the policy?  What's the problem?  Why

         15  is it that they can't join the force?  If they can

         16  serve this country in that capacity, why can't they

         17  serve the City in that capacity?

         18                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, first of all, I

         19  believe the requirement to be a U.S. citizen is a

         20  statutory requirement.  It's not a Police Department

         21  requirement, it's a statutory requirement. It's a

         22  statute of law.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So we have

         24  to change that in Albany or the City?

         25                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I believe it's
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          2  Albany.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Albany?

          4                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  It's a state law.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But I think

          6  some other cities, they recruit --

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  Well, it's a

          8  statutory requirement. It's a city administrative

          9  code regulation, so it's what the New York City

         10  Administrative Code requires.  But just so you know,

         11  I mean, we do allow people that are not citizens to

         12  take the police officer exam.  They can take the

         13  written exam.  They can take the psychological, we

         14  can do a character background investigation on them.

         15    They can take the physical.  The only requirement

         16  is that once, to be appointed police officers they

         17  must be a U.S. citizen, and that's been a

         18  longstanding rule that's been in place.  I mean, I'd

         19  leave it at that.  That's what it is.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         21  Thank you.  I just feel that we should go back and

         22  look at the salary.  I don't know who did the

         23  negotiation, but the fact that most decent jobs

         24  start higher than $25,000, and to try to recruit

         25  someone with even 60 college credits with $25,000 I
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          2  think that is ridiculous, and I think those who did

          3  the negotiations should really go back.  When that

          4  is up, go back and look at because we have seen the

          5  effects of what is happening now.  We need more

          6  police officers.  We need quality police officers,

          7  and that I don't think can pay.  If I were a

          8  policeman, I don't think that I would accept that.

          9  I just want to leave that with you today.  Thank

         10  you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         12  Council Member.  I want to again thank my members

         13  for not grand standing and for asking actual

         14  questions designed to get answers to resolve this

         15  situation.

         16                 Council Member, you mentioned the

         17  civilianization program, and I had forgotten to

         18  mention that, but you're absolutely right.  When we

         19  authorized the 800 more police officers, we also

         20  authorized 400 civilians to go into the precincts to

         21  put those officers on the street to make a total of

         22  1,200 on the streets, and thank God we did because

         23  those are the only ones we have on the streets right

         24  now.  We don't have those 800.

         25                 To finish up quickly, Council Member
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          2  Hiram Monserrate.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank

          4  you.  Chief, what's the budget for the recruitment

          5  office every year?

          6                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Our

          7  advertising budget is 7.7, and I have about a staff

          8  of 38 uniformed members that work for me.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  38

         10  members?

         11                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  So can we

         13  quantify that at all?  $7.7 million is just

         14  advertising, so staff dollars, utilities, and so

         15  forth.  What would the ballpark be?

         16                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  Well,

         17  together, it's -- my staff is about $2.3 million, so

         18  altogether staff and budget is a little over $10

         19  million.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  $10

         21  million, staff and budget.  Just as an aside, my

         22  opinion is as bad as the starting salary is, if you

         23  had a higher base salary, there would probably still

         24  be more individuals taking the exam, would you agree

         25  with that?  In other words, let me give you example.
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          2    If they started at 25, but within three to four

          3  years they were making 80, do you think some of

          4  those individuals might be willing to start low for

          5  25 and then understand that eventually they're going

          6  to get a much higher salary?

          7                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I suppose that may be

          8  case.  I don't have any empirical data to support

          9  that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         11                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I have data that

         12  supports the fact that the entry level salary is

         13  having a negative effect.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Right.

         15                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  I guess you could

         16  argue that eventually the salary is going to be

         17  higher in the long run it should impact positively.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Just to

         19  shift gears back to the issue of manpower that was

         20  raised by both the Chair and Council Member Gentile

         21  from Brooklyn, obviously, I too have heard many

         22  concerns of local police precincts in Queens,

         23  particularly on the midnight tours, turning out two

         24  sets of cars and a supervisor. So technically, I

         25  guess there's a total of three cars.  There's
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          2  actually two cars doing all the work, and the other

          3  car is supposed to be supervising.  So I think

          4  that's where you hear the consistent number of two

          5  RMPs.  Does the Department engage currently in

          6  paying overtime to back fill, and, if so, do you

          7  know what those figures are?

          8                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I don't have

          9  any numbers on that, so I don't know.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I know

         11  they used to do that.  Do they still do that today?

         12  In other words, if they have low patrol strength,

         13  bring in officers on their days off?

         14                 DEPUTY CHIEF GERRISH:  I don't know.

         15  I can't answer that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Okay.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you,

         19  Council Member. And remember, Chief Pineiro, I'm

         20  going to give your chance to make that pitch in a

         21  half a second, but before I do, let me just say

         22  again this hearing is not to place blame on anyone,

         23  but to point out that very soon that if this

         24  situation is not rectified, I believe crime will

         25  once again start increasing.  And when that happens,
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          2  it will take a long time to right that ship.  It is

          3  like turning the Titanic.  It takes a long time.

          4  It's a slow process. We can't allow that to get a

          5  foothold.

          6                 Now, Chief Pineiro, I know that

          7  you've got, as I said, Channel 74 is here, and the

          8  people who watch that are up late at night, maybe

          9  because they're looking for jobs.  We want to do

         10  everything we can today to try to get some of those

         11  people to apply to help us out of this situation.

         12  So here's your chance.  Tell people why they should

         13  apply.  I mean, we're all going to assume the salary

         14  is going to go up as a result of this hearing, but

         15  even with the low salary, why should people apply to

         16  be NYPD officers?

         17                 CHIEF PINEIRO:  If you're looking for

         18  an opportunity to join the greatest Police

         19  Department in the world, in the greatest City in the

         20  world, with unbounded opportunities for career

         21  advancement, educational advancement and development

         22  of skills, come to the NYPD.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, well,

         24  again, thank you for being so forthcoming for coming

         25  down today.  We look forward to working with you to

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  resolve this situation.  As I said, we'll have our

          3  attorneys contact your attorneys.  We'll do lunch

          4  and see what we can come up with, some alternatives

          5  to resolve this situation. We're going to take a few

          6  minute break and come back with the PBA. Thank you

          7  again, gentlemen.

          8                 (Recess taken)

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay,

         10  everybody, please find seats and end the

         11  conversations.  Thank you.  Welcome back, everyone,

         12  to this hearing of the Public Safety Committee.  We

         13  will now will hear from the Patrolmen's Benevolent

         14  Association.  They have not been here that often in

         15  the past, and I thank them for coming here today on

         16  this very, very important issue.  I think that

         17  underscores the importance of what we're doing here

         18  today.

         19                 The last panel was not involved in

         20  negotiations. This panel is, so we will hear in even

         21  more detail what's happening.  Mr. Lynch, thank you

         22  for coming down today.  I appreciate your taking

         23  your time and you're with your counsel and I'm not

         24  sure what each position actually is nowadays, but --

         25  research director.  Well, you were very good at that
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          2  when you were with us, so you have a good man there.

          3  Thank you, Mr. Lynch, the floor is yours.

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  Mr. Chairman, thank you

          5  very much for having this hearing on such an

          6  important issue.  Good morning, Mr. Chairman,

          7  distinguished members of the Public Safety Committee

          8  and other members of the Council.  I want to thank

          9  you for the opportunity to address this Committee on

         10  such an important issue. This issue is important not

         11  only to New York City police officers, but to every

         12  City resident, every visitor and tourist, and every

         13  person or entity that does business in our great

         14  City.

         15                 My name is Patrick J. Lynch.  I'm the

         16  President of the New York City Patrolmen's

         17  Benevolent Association, and I represent over 50,000

         18  active and retired NYPD police officers.

         19                 I'm here today to reiterate what I

         20  have been saying for some time.  There is a

         21  personnel crisis within the NYPD and it's not new.

         22  Specifically, the NYPD is unable to recruit and

         23  retain enough qualified candidates to staff the

         24  City's precincts and commands at a level that is

         25  safe for our residents.  Despite what others say,
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          2  this crisis has been building for some time.

          3                 Although the situation has existed

          4  for some time, senior Department officials have only

          5  recently acknowledged that they cannot maintain

          6  adequate force strength and that we face a serious

          7  problem.  Sadly, the issue had been masked by City

          8  officials who had asserted that there was no

          9  recruitment or retention problem.  Instead, they had

         10  claimed for some time that they had planned the

         11  headcount reductions in the NYPD, and no one except

         12  the PBA had challenged those assertions.

         13                 In a post- 9/11 world, we are the

         14  only Department of which I am aware that claims that

         15  it was voluntarily shrinking its force size, not by

         16  hundreds, Mr. Chairman, but by thousands, or between

         17  10 and 15 percent.  Now when we're at a crisis

         18  point, where even a significant effort to increase

         19  wages will not immediately turn this ship around, we

         20  have public admissions of the crisis.

         21                 The Department has reported that head

         22  counts of uniformed services of the NYPD stands at

         23  around 35,000, about 5,000 to 6,000 below historic

         24  highs.   The head counts the Department reports

         25  includes those who are out sick, those who are on

                                                            111

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  terminal, military or other leaves.  This diminishes

          3  head counts even further than they want to

          4  acknowledge.

          5                 To put it into perspective, Mr.

          6  Chairman, when I took over the PBA in July of 1999,

          7  I represented in excess of 26,000 active New York

          8  City police officers, between 3,000 and 4,000 more

          9  than I do presently.  But one doesn't have to rely

         10  on the falling aggregate headcount numbers to

         11  appreciate this problem.  You can merely observe the

         12  individual precincts and commands within our great

         13  City.  It is apparent that the number of radio cars

         14  and visible uniformed patrols have dropped

         15  dramatically and have for some time.

         16                 As an example, in my own resident

         17  precinct, the 111 Precinct in Queens, there are at

         18  times two or three radio cars servicing the entire

         19  precinct as we spoke of earlier, which covers 9.4

         20  square miles.  Within its borders there are 116,000

         21  legal residents, countless business establishments,

         22  27 elementary schools, four junior high schools and

         23  three high schools, one college and no fewer than 55

         24  Houses of Worship.  Two or three radio cars on

         25  certain tours is simply not enough to cover a
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          2  precinct of that geographic breadth or residential

          3  population.

          4                 While the 111 Precinct is just one of

          5  the City's precincts, this is the type of staffing

          6  shortage that is seen citywide and, if allowed to

          7  persist, will create a danger to City residents, and

          8  has already to my members, New York City police

          9  officers.

         10                 In the 28th Precinct in Harlem, for

         11  example, according to Department data, since 2000,

         12  headcount has been reduced from 252 to 188 officers,

         13  a decrease of roughly 25 percent. That decrease

         14  happened at a time when several index crimes have

         15  increased there.  I could go on with examples, but

         16  I'm certain that every Council Member and citizen in

         17  this room is familiar with those shortages in their

         18  resident precincts and your districts.

         19                 A look a historic head counts will

         20  give you a further perspective on just how short-

         21  staffed we are and what it means to our City.  Prior

         22  to the renaissance in the City in the 1990's, NYPD

         23  headcount in the neighborhood of 28,000.  These were

         24  numbers pre- merger with the Transit and Housing

         25  Police Department merge into the NYPD, which brought
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          2  an additional 6,000 to 7,000 police officers to the

          3  NYPD in 1995.  Adjusted for the impact of the

          4  Transit and Housing merge, and those police officers

          5  on various leaves, we have staffing levels that are

          6  now at or about where we were in 1990, at a time

          7  when it was conceded by all that we were dangerously

          8  short- staffed.

          9                 1990, of course, was a time where the

         10  City was out of control, and it had been for much of

         11  the two preceding decades. Just recently, the New

         12  York Observer called those times "the bad old days"

         13  in a retrospective about that period.

         14                 To remind us all of what the City was

         15  like in those days, I'll read some excerpts from

         16  that particular piece:

         17                  "Our City was best known for the

         18  graffiti- decorated subways, blasting boom boxes and

         19  the faint smell of urine rising from the summer

         20  pavement.  The rest of the country thought we were

         21  goners, collapsed in a sputter of crime, crack and

         22  fiscal disaster. There were landlords burning down

         23  the buildings.  You couldn't give them away.

         24  Hookers hanging out on 83rd Street and Broadway near

         25  Zabar's.  The dog excrement was piled so high in the
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          2  streets you needed a mountain axe to transverse the

          3  sidewalk.  The buildings were so blackened by grime

          4  you could barely see them in the dark. The subways

          5  were so dangerous you felt you were descending into

          6  Hell.  There were no hedge fund gods, no $1,000

          7  pizzas or latte factories, no $50 million mansions

          8  or elliptical trainers at Equinox."

          9                 And not coincidentally, Mr. Chairman,

         10  during that same period there were not enough police

         11  officers.  There was a direct correlation between

         12  the absence of adequate patrol strength, the police

         13  officers you see on the street, and the real and

         14  perceived sense that this City was out of control.

         15                 Then the Safe Streets, Safe City

         16  legislation came along and provided the funding to

         17  put the right amount of police officers on the

         18  street, and as night follows day, the problems that

         19  many thought were entrenched and couldn't be

         20  addressed, began to disappear.  New York City police

         21  officers took this City back literally block by

         22  block.  What happened, safety and prosperity

         23  followed.  Businesses flourished.  Tourism boomed

         24  and the coffers of the City filled.

         25                 At about the same time, beginning in
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          2  1990, a new policy of labor relations was crafted in

          3  this City, literally out of whole cloth.  According

          4  to the City, it required that every City union, both

          5  uniformed and civilian, receive exactly the same

          6  raise in every contract.  This was the beginning of

          7  what was called lock step pattern bargaining, an

          8  artifice that on its face violates this state's

          9  Taylor Law and, as Police Commissioner Kelly just

         10  recently conceded, has been a disaster for the NYPD.

         11                 During the 1990's, New York City

         12  police officers received three and a half years of

         13  zeroes under this regimen of pattern bargaining,

         14  this at a time where other Police Departments around

         15  this country were receiving not exorbitant

         16  increases, as some may suggest, but ordinary and

         17  appropriate raises, having us fall further and

         18  further behind.

         19                 This era and the application of the

         20  failed policy of pattern bargaining, which requires

         21  unlike groups to be paid at the same level, led to a

         22  situation where New York City police officers are

         23  now paid anywhere between 20 and 40 percent less in

         24  real terms than virtually every other police officer

         25  in the country.  This situation has existed for some
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          2  time, but certainly since 1999.

          3                 What happened in 1999?  The PBA had

          4  legislation passed and its legality confirmed that

          5  was designed to get us out from under the

          6  jurisdiction of the Office of Collective Bargaining,

          7  an agency that failed to do its job in two 1990

          8  arbitrations. We've since conducted two arbitrations

          9  under the state agency rules, and we've made

         10  incremental gains and have averted another zero

         11  increase that the City was attempting to force upon

         12  its police officers in the last round of bargaining.

         13

         14                 However, in both arbitration awards

         15  when they were rendered, that they both rejected the

         16  concept of pattern bargaining.  Significant.  Both

         17  arbitration awards cast aside pattern bargaining as

         18  being a problem and not working, but we still have

         19  not received enough to address the compensation

         20  problem that's now a crisis.  Why?  Because absent

         21  the City's acknowledgment of the problem,

         22  arbitrators have shown a reluctance to make up for a

         23  decade of poor labor relations and compensation

         24  practices in the City in one arbitration.  In other

         25  words, arbitrators have shown that they will not
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          2  save the City from itself.  That's why at the City's

          3  request arbitrators awarded a new low starting

          4  salary.  The City asked for it, and they received

          5  it.  Now they're seeking to lay the blame on

          6  everyone but themselves and their failed policies.

          7                 I'm here today, Mr. Chairman, to call

          8  for an abandonment of pattern bargaining as

          9  practiced in this City.  This concept exists nowhere

         10  else in the country.  Why?  Because it simply makes

         11  zero sense, and by the way, it violates the state

         12  Taylor Law.  Inevitably, a system that provides the

         13  same level of raises to every class of employee will

         14  produce over time an outcome where there will be

         15  some groups that will be paid above market rate,

         16  some at market rate, and some that will be paid

         17  below market rate.  And that is exactly what has

         18  happened in the City of New York.  New York City

         19  police officers are being paid well and

         20  embarrassingly below market rate.

         21                 In the end, Mr. Chairman, pattern

         22  bargaining is lazy bargaining.  Instead of

         23  bargaining with each group on the merits of their

         24  case as the law requires, we have our labor

         25  officials saying because clerks have accepted a
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          2  certain raise, police officers have to accept the

          3  same, and that has been the extent of collective

          4  bargaining in the City of New York since pattern

          5  bargaining was created.

          6                 As a result of this lazy bargaining

          7  style, we have the Police Commissioner who,

          8  remarkably I might add, has no say in the setting of

          9  salaries in his own agency he's charged to

         10  administer, saying that pattern bargaining hurts the

         11  NYPD. Significantly, the Commissioner has told us

         12  that Operation Impact, the last band aid approach

         13  that prevents a full scale of return to crime, is

         14  now endangered.

         15                 What has been this Administration's

         16  reaction to the Police Commissioner's sounding of

         17  the alarm?  The Mayor, apparently advised by others

         18  who are in denial about the negative effects of

         19  pattern bargaining, has re- affirmed the commitment

         20  to pattern bargaining.  While he acknowledged that

         21  pattern bargaining has endangered the public safety,

         22  the Mayor has said there will be no exception for

         23  New York City police officers.  Instead, he

         24  recklessly asserted that every other contract with

         25  every other group of City employee would have to be
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          2  reopened in the event police officers receive more

          3  than below inflationary raises.  I ask these

          4  questions, is every other group in the same

          5  competitive position as New York City police

          6  officers?  Does every other group perform the same

          7  type of job that New York City police officers

          8  perform under the same conditions with the same type

          9  of scrutiny in a City that is admittedly one of the

         10  hardest to police in the world?

         11                 Mr. Chairman, the time has come for

         12  the Mayor to lead, to say yes when the facts suggest

         13  that his right to do so, and say no when they don't.

         14    One size fits all bargaining makes zero sense and

         15  has been shown to be a failure in the City of New

         16  York.  It's time for the sun set on the 17- year-

         17  old failed policy of pattern bargaining.

         18                 You need only to look to recent City

         19  history to predict what will happen if the staffing

         20  crisis not immediately addressed.  Let's not return

         21  to the bad old days of New York City. The stakes are

         22  too high, and there's too much that must be kept

         23  right in the City of New York for all of us.

         24  Abandon the illegal practice of pattern bargaining

         25  and pay New York City police officers a decent, fair
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          2  and market wage.  Only in that way will we be able

          3  to recruit and retain enough qualified police

          4  officers to ensure the continued safety and

          5  financial health of this City.

          6                 Mr. Chairman, one more thing that's

          7  not in my notes I think is important to add.  There

          8  was a lot of emphasis by the previous witnesses here

          9  that starting pay is the only problem why we can't

         10  recruit and retain New York City police officers.  I

         11  point to the fact that not in our last arbitration

         12  but the arbitration before PERB, the arbitration

         13  before.  In a 24- month period, our members were

         14  awarded five percent, five percent and 1.5 percent

         15  in a 24- month period.  He also dictated of that 1.5

         16  percent go back to the table with the City and

         17  negotiate, and we did.  And what did we do?  We

         18  raised the starting salary to $40,000.  We raised it

         19  to the highest starting salary in the region.  Two

         20  things, our first day of negotiations with the City

         21  of New York, their first demand was to reduce the

         22  starting salary not to $25,100, but to $21,000.

         23  That was their first demand after we raised it to

         24  $40,000.

         25                 Second point, even with that $40,000
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          2  starting salary, we could not fill an Academy class,

          3  and we could not retain our qualified senior police

          4  officers.  Top pay, basic max, people look at their

          5  career as a whole.  How do we know that?  Nassau

          6  County, starting salary during this time period

          7  $21,000.  Top pay, $94,000.  Where do they get their

          8  members?  From the NYPD.  We now are the feeder

          9  school for every other Department that surrounds us.

         10  Why?  They're paying a decent, livable market wage.

         11  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I'll gladly answer any

         12  kind of questions you and your colleagues have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you.

         14  Before I get to your testimony, let me ask you where

         15  we are now with arbitration. I think there was an

         16  article in today's Times where you were taken to

         17  task by the Administration for appealing a ruling

         18  regarding an arbitrator.  I happen to know the

         19  reasons behind that, but I wanted you to inform

         20  everybody where we stand now.

         21                 MR. LYNCH:  One of things that we've

         22  done in recent weeks, is we approached the City and

         23  gave them a suggestion that would solve this

         24  problem.  We had said, take the two arbitrators that

         25  are in question, because it violated the dictate
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          2  that PERB has passed down.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Just before you

          4  get there, assume people don't know -- how did we

          5  get to this stage right now? Where are we?

          6                 MR. LYNCH:  We had a list of

          7  arbitrators where we went to arbitration, and the

          8  state arbitrator PERB passes down a list of nine

          9  arbitrators.  One of the dictates that PERB had said

         10  to us is that there will not be anyone on that

         11  arbitration list that had ruled on any PBA

         12  arbitration in the past.  Lo and behold, when the

         13  list came down of nine folks that gave awards that

         14  were beneficial to New York City police officers

         15  were removed.  Those that gave zeros to New York

         16  City police officers were still on, and the City

         17  proved after the facts that's exactly who they

         18  wanted picked as the arbitrator.  We question that,

         19  we appeal that.

         20                 We also, in the meantime, gave a

         21  suggestion to the City, have those two questionable

         22  arbitrators off that list, and we can move forward

         23  with the arbitration.  They did not want to do it.

         24  They offhand pushed it aside.  We could have been

         25  moving forward. Look, the City, just like they say,
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          2  it's the union asked for $25,100.  They do this.

          3  They answer the question and then they run and put

          4  their head in the sand.  It's not always the truth.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, and where

          6  do you anticipate us going in the near future

          7  regarding negotiations?

          8                 MR. LYNCH:  We are sitting willing

          9  and able to negotiate at any time, but to negotiate

         10  you need someone on the other side of the table

         11  negotiating in return.  What we have to do is

         12  negotiate to solve the problems within the NYPD,

         13  both for my members, a decent, liveable market wage

         14  for my members so that they live and rear their

         15  family in this great City, and the City has to solve

         16  a problem.  They cannot fill an Academy class.

         17  They're losing record numbers to retirement, but on

         18  top of that something is significant that is

         19  happening that has not happened in the past. We've

         20  lost upwards of 900 members with six, seven years on

         21  the job, who are not retiring, who are quitting the

         22  NYPD to go to other better paying Police

         23  Departments.  That has never happened in the past.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  But you heard

         25  the testimony that they claimed that, is that the
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          2  same rate that's been the past? Has it remained

          3  steady at two percent?

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  That is absolutely not

          5  the truth.  We also heard how they're going out to

          6  street fairs and giving out key rings, and we're

          7  calling everyone under the sun, and we travel the

          8  country.  The problem is salary, salary, salary.

          9  Increase top pay, we won't have a problem.  Point to

         10  those other departments that do not have a

         11  recruitment or a retention problem.  Just recently

         12  in the newspapers Suffolk County was asked that

         13  question.  Their statement was, we're paid a

         14  liveable wage.  We do not have a recruitment or

         15  retention problem.  We have enough qualified diverse

         16  candidates to take our test, and you know what?

         17  They're coming from here.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  So clearly you

         19  disagree.  Let me just get some clarification.

         20  Clearly, you disagree on with what the

         21  Administration said.  So you're saying that it's not

         22  steady at two percent, that in recent years, or this

         23  year what can you tell me about the increase in

         24  people who are leaving the force after say five

         25  years?
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          2                 MR. LYNCH:  It absolutely has

          3  increased, and I'll give it to my colleague to

          4  answer those questions with numbers.

          5                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  You have the Siegel

          6  Report.  The Siegel is an actuarial firm that did a

          7  study for the New York City retirements.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Just identify

          9  yourself for the record.

         10                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  Frank Trumantano,

         11  Research Director, PBA.  They show you actual

         12  withdrawals, which is a withdrawal is someone from

         13  the pension who just withdraws, doesn't retire,

         14  doesn't get disability.  Those numbers clearly have

         15  gone up.  They were in the 300's and 400's in the

         16   '90's.  They went to the 1,000's and 900's in 2000.

         17    Starting in 2001 and out.  So much that they are

         18  recommending to the pension system that the number

         19  they use for doing the actuarial calculations rise

         20  by 50 percent, from a 600 number to a 900 number.

         21  So the data is here, and it's verified in a report

         22  that was done by the Controller to the actuaries for

         23  the pension system.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  It gets

         25  confusing because clearly there's a different number
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          2  of people retiring based on the people that were

          3  hired that year 20 years earlier.  The

          4  Administration was talking about a percentage.  This

          5  is withdrawals now.

          6                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  These are

          7  withdrawals.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  To before

          9  retirement.  So break that down for me now.  How

         10  many more are we having this year than we've had in

         11  the past of withdrawals?

         12                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  Well, they raised

         13  the level that they use in computing the cost that

         14  the City has to pay for pensions.  They raised that

         15  number from 630 to 940, so it's almost a 50 percent

         16  raise in that number based on actuarial --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You're giving

         18  me pension increase.  Just give me numbers.  How

         19  many police officers have we lost?

         20                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  It's about 1,000 a

         21  year when in the past it was about 300, 400.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  There we go.

         23                 MR. MURRAY:  If you go back to an

         24  earlier time in this Department, there were no

         25  people really leaving for other departments.  If you
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          2  go back to the '90 to '91 period, there was between

          3  100 and 200 what are called resignations, and that's

          4  someone who has left the job short of 20 years.

          5  Fast forward to 2006, 2007, you have now in excess

          6  of 900 leaving.  What Frank is saying is that

          7  they're saying forecast that out because they

          8  forecast a trend of continuing in excess of 900.  In

          9  fact, the first quarter of this year shows that the

         10  numbers are up 15 percent, year over year from last

         11  year.  So we're going to see those numbers for some

         12  time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Again, identify

         14  yourself for the record.

         15                 MR. MURRAY:  Michael Murray.  I'm the

         16  General Counsel of the PBA.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All right.  I'm

         18  just going to go through your testimony page by

         19  page.  Bottom of two onto three, you mention that

         20  we've been losing police officers and that the City

         21  has claimed that they are planning this headcount

         22  reduction, and no one but the PBA had challenged

         23  those assertions.  This took me awhile to figure

         24  out.  What you're saying here is because many of us,

         25  well, not many, but I challenge the fact that the
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          2  Police Department was not being heard by not

          3  replacing the officers that were attriting even

          4  though we weren't cutting the Police Department.

          5  But you're saying that the reason wasn't budgetary,

          6  that the reason that we have less police officers

          7  now is because they anticipated not being able to

          8  recruit them?

          9                 MR. LYNCH:  That's absolutely

         10  correct.  What happened is they had their number.

         11  When they were planning their budget, they knew they

         12  were not going to meet the number that they need, so

         13  they reduced it so they wouldn't be embarrassed

         14  rather than trying to fix the problem in the first

         15  place.

         16                 MR. MURRAY:  Just to expand on that.

         17  If you go back to that 2000 to 2002 arbitration that

         18  was the subject of some questions by Council

         19  Members, we were able to show in that arbitration

         20  that there was a recruitment and retention crisis

         21  because the City could not meet its projected

         22  headcount figures as laid out in the Mayor's

         23  Management Report.  So in order to basically

         24  eliminate that argument in the next round, they

         25  simply reduced the headcount numbers that they were
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          2  trying to meet and therefore they met their

          3  headcount, but the headcount was lowered by 1,600 in

          4  one case and 1,900 in another case.  So they had met

          5  a lowered number, and they were, as Pat mentioned,

          6  the only Department that we're aware of that was

          7  shrinking headcount post September 11th.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, now at

          9  bottom of page four you mention the 111 Precinct.

         10  It's a huge precinct.  It goes from above Northern

         11  Boulevard all the way down to Union Turnpike. As

         12  I've said, although I've never heard this from you,

         13  I've heard it from other sources, there are two or

         14  three patrol cars for that huge precinct.  You

         15  mentioned the amount of junior high schools there.

         16  My daughter goes to one, so I'm very concerned about

         17  that.

         18                 When you talk about precinct numbers

         19  for the 111 and for, let's look at the 28 in Harlem,

         20  you said there's 188 officers down from 252, which

         21  pretty much mirrors my precinct of 114.  When those

         22  188 officers, that includes, as we heard, people out

         23  on disability, sick pay.

         24                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  Military leave.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Military leave,
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          2  it would include yourself.  What else does it

          3  include?

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  It includes anyone that's

          5  assigned, but may not necessarily be on patrol.

          6  What's significant here is they talk about two or

          7  three sector cars, and the City will sometimes

          8  counter and say, well, we have other special

          9  assignment cars out there, condition cars, House of

         10  Worship cars.

         11                 The difference is, when we had the

         12  proper staffing levels, we had four and five sector

         13  cars, then those specialty vehicles and assignments

         14  on top of that.  That's the difference we're facing

         15  now.  Now we also talked about the band aid

         16  approach, which you've been vocal about in the past,

         17  Mr. Chairman, is Operation Impact.

         18                 What happens with Operation Impact is

         19  you're taking police officers from one community

         20  precinct, flying them to another because there's a

         21  spike in crime.  You're leaving the original

         22  community vulnerable, and then moving these police

         23  officers elsewhere.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  When you say

         25  taking, now they made the point to say that clearly
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          2  they're taking the new recruits. Did they take

          3  actual officers from the precinct also?

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  Yes, they do, and what

          5  they also left out they say, well, we had one

          6  Academy class we keep replacing them.  If they

          7  didn't have to have Operation Impact, where would

          8  those rookie police officers be?  They'd be assigned

          9  to the 111, the 28 the 114.

         10                 So they're already saying we have to

         11  lower what you would have had to staff up Operation

         12  Impact.  Then a weekend comes, a detail, an ethnic

         13  parade, a festival.  Those police officers, the Met

         14  game, those things need to be staffed up.  Where do

         15  they come from?  The 111, the 90, the 28, 123.

         16  That's where they come from. So again reducing the

         17  number of police officers they have.  Why is that

         18  dangerous?  Do more with less.  Our police officers

         19  are handling more radio runs.  They're handling more

         20  jobs.  The citizens are waiting much longer.  We

         21  talk often about the ComStat program, an effective

         22  program.  You know where the crime is, but what made

         23  it effective after we knew where the crime was?

         24  Each commanding officer was held accountable, but he

         25  or she was held accountable because they knew where
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          2  the crime was, and the City of New York gave them

          3  the staffing they needed to go after the crime. So

          4  you were able to go with the CompStat numbers,

          5  reduce traditional crime, cover your terrorism

          6  aspects and cover those specialty details.  Now

          7  we're doing that with 6,000 less.  It's a danger.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I couldn't

          9  agree more.  We have a slight disagreement on the

         10  bottom of page six.  You mentioned we're down to

         11  where we were in 1991.  I believe we're down to

         12  where we were in 1993.  For the Police Department at

         13  around 26,000 prior to merger in 1990, 1991, with an

         14  additional 2,000 or so in Housing and 3,000 in

         15  Transit, making about the 31,000 number we've been

         16  discussing for 1991.  The Police Department then

         17  post merger goes to about 35,400 in 1993.  So you

         18  said we're down to where we were in 1990, 1991.  I

         19  believe we're closer to where we were in 1993.  Why

         20  that discrepancy?  It's not a big deal.  I just want

         21  to make sure where we are.

         22                 MR. LYNCH:  The City of New York does

         23  not share those numbers with us.  We go by actual

         24  what's happening in the precinct from our members as

         25  well.  I would love the City to be able to share
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          2  that with us because I'd be able to point out where

          3  there's an issue, but just like the numbers shown

          4  not on terminal leave, those retiring, military

          5  leave, those numbers are all included.  Multiply

          6  that by the number of precincts, and we're talking

          7  about a significant number of people that may well

          8  make up that number.

          9                 Plus, the previous witness testifying

         10  how they decimated Transit and Housing after the

         11  merger.  One of the first signs of returning crime

         12  and the theories, the broken window theories, began

         13  under Commissioner Bratton in the Transit system.

         14  They've now decimated that.  Are you not opening up

         15  the possibility for the increase of crime by not

         16  staffing up to the levels that are safe for the

         17  City?

         18                 MR. MURRAY:  We relied on the Mayor's

         19  message of May, '91 for the figures that we used in

         20  Pat's discussion.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  What number was

         22  that?

         23                 MR. MURRAY:  33,959.  So about 34,000

         24  and then the current headcount --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  In what year?
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          2                 MR. MURRAY:  1991.

          3                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  That was as of June,

          4  1991.  33,959 for all three police forces.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All three.

          6                 MR. TRUMANTANO:  And if you work the

          7  attrition that they're doing -- the attrition that's

          8  going on now will get there, and it's like you said,

          9  we're not going to be able to turn this ship around.

         10    We're going to get there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I think we all

         12  agree though, and this is something that has not

         13  been mentioned.  That whenever the increase

         14  happened, right about that time, after Safe Streets,

         15  Safe City, a City Council initiative, 3,000 to 4,000

         16  officers were added, and it had a tremendous effect

         17  on the fight against crime. We are now talking about

         18  that same 3,000 to 4,000 officers which have been

         19  taken away.

         20                 MR. LYNCH:  Absolutely.  What made

         21  that effective by staffing up the Police Department

         22  is we were able to, as we use in the Department

         23  often, to be omnipresent, have police officers where

         24  you don't expect them to be, have enough staffing to

         25  be able to cover each issue that goes on in that
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          2  neighborhood precinct. Without those additional

          3  police officers, we're unable to do that. That's

          4  what's making it dangerously low.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I have more

          6  questions.  Let me turn it over to Council Member

          7  Gentile for a while.  Council Member?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chairman, and thank Speaker Vallone for his Safe

         10  Streets, Safe City's initiative back in the 1990's

         11  too.

         12                 President Lynch, I just want to try

         13  to get this concept of this pattern bargaining,

         14  which you call lazy bargaining, and I see why you're

         15  saying that based on your remarks today.  Is there

         16  any basis in law for this pattern bargaining?

         17                 MR. LYNCH:  There's no basis in law.

         18  It's unheard of across the country, but it does

         19  violate the state's labor law. They, the City,

         20  should be coming to the table to negotiate to solve

         21  problems in the agency, in this particular case, the

         22  NYPD.  But what they do is they say, whatever the

         23  first union in door, whatever they settle for,

         24  everyone else has to settle for the same. So what

         25  happens?  That may work if every employee in the
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          2  City was paid at market rate, paid what their

          3  counterparts doing like work are getting paid, if

          4  there weren't any recruitment or retention problems,

          5  possibly you can argue it's effective.  In the NYPD,

          6  as we've heard testimony, we cannot hire or retain

          7  enough qualified police officers.  Why?  Because of

          8  the salary.

          9                 Let's talk about what the City is

         10  offering, 3 and 3.15.  For theory's sake, if that

         11  were to be accepted, it's a substandard below

         12  inflationary raise.  That would bring our top pay up

         13  to $63,000, still below Nassau, Suffolk, Las Vegas,

         14  Florida.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  That's after

         16  five years?

         17                 MR. LYNCH:  That's correct, five and

         18  a half years. Now that still would not solve the

         19  problem.  Are we not looking, as we had testimony,

         20  to solve our recruitment problem?  Are we not

         21  looking to solve the retention problem?  That won't

         22  do it.  So what should happen?  Bargaining with the

         23  New York City PBA to solve the problem, not

         24  constantly push the failed policy of pattern

         25  bargaining.  That's what put us in this hole in the
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          2  first place.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So under the

          4  confines that the City is imposing under this

          5  pattern bargaining, we'll never get out of this

          6  situation?

          7                 MR. LYNCH:  Absolutely correct, and

          8  that's exactly what put us in this hole.  Let us go

          9  back to the Giuliani Administration.  They insisted

         10  also with pattern bargaining.  What was the pattern

         11  at the time?  Zeroes.  New York City police officers

         12  took three and a half years of zeroes in a five-

         13  year period.  What happened?  We fell further and

         14  further behind every police department in the

         15  country.  As I testified to, some would suggest that

         16  the departments out east and up north got exorbitant

         17  raises.  That's not the case.  They got raises on a

         18  steady basis. While they moved in incremental moves

         19  forward, we froze in time.

         20                 When I came on the job in 1984, we

         21  were about $5,000 less in salary than Nassau and

         22  Suffolk.  We were ahead of the state troopers, we

         23  were ahead of Westchester, ahead of a number of

         24  departments out there.  Since that time, because of

         25  the failed policy of pattern bargaining, because of
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          2  the zeroes that we'll never make up, we fell further

          3  and further and further behind, not just in the

          4  region, but across the country.

          5                 So if we now continue to push that

          6  failed policy to a point where the pattern has to

          7  stand now, we'll never solve the problem, we'll

          8  never fill an Academy class, we will not keep our

          9  veteran senior police officers from retiring, and

         10  all those in between that upwards of 1,000 police

         11  officers that left with five, six, seven years,

         12  they'll continue to come here, be trained, go out on

         13  the street for a short time, and take their skills

         14  elsewhere.               A City number, and it's a

         15  conservative number, how much does it cost to

         16  recruit, train, investigate a police officer to come

         17  on the job?  $100,000.  So for every police officer

         18  that leaves, we have to do that again.  The problem

         19  now is that we're going to keep spending that

         20  $100,000 to have them keep walking out the back

         21  door, going to other departments.  Now to make that

         22  problem worse, the number of applicants has gone

         23  down, so we're never going to move ahead until we

         24  pay our police officers at market rate.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So it's your
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          2  testimony then that 17 years ago, prior to this

          3  pattern bargaining, the NYPD was at or better than

          4  pay levels of surrounding police departments?  Am I

          5  correct about that?

          6                 MR. LYNCH:  Yes, close enough.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  And so when

          8  this pattern bargaining took hold I guess as a

          9  policy, that's when you started to lose the parody

         10  with other police departments in the area?

         11                 MR. LYNCH:  That's absolutely

         12  correct, and it started again with those zeroes, as

         13  I explained.  We froze and everyone else

         14  consistently in increments moved up.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I guess the

         16  Mayor's bugaboo that he tries to frighten everybody

         17  with, I suppose, is that if we break this pattern

         18  bargaining, then we must reopen negotiations with

         19  the other contracts.  Is that accurate?  Does the

         20  City have to reopen negotiations, reopen the

         21  contracts?

         22                 MR. LYNCH:  Not only is it not

         23  accurate, it's nonsense.  They do not have to open

         24  up all those other contracts. As a matter of fact,

         25  that would violate the Taylor Law saying there's a
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          2  me too clause.  What you're supposed to do is

          3  negotiate with each union for their unit to solve

          4  the problem in that agency. The increases that

          5  happened in other agencies, if it works for those

          6  agencies, that's fine.  It is not going to work for

          7  us.

          8                 To constantly defend the failed

          9  policy of pattern bargaining is disastrous and

         10  dangerous.  It has put us in the hole we're in right

         11  now.  Again, the emotion of saying of $25,100 is it.

         12  That's not the problem, and if it was the problem,

         13  the City of New York would not have asked for a

         14  starting salary of $21,000, which they did.  Why did

         15  the arbitrator go there?  They had witness upon

         16  witness in the arbitration swear under oath there's

         17  no recruitment nor retention problem in the NYPD,

         18  and they also asked for a starting salary of

         19  $21,000.  Where is an arbitrator to go after hearing

         20  that evidence, but to say, well, you don't have a

         21  problem, and you're asking for this lower starting

         22  salary, I'll give it to you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So they're

         24  saying we didn't have a retention and recruitment

         25  problem, but we have a problem in ability to pay.
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          2  Therefore, we're asking for the lower starting

          3  salary.

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  The City can pay.  The

          5  ability to pay aspect, they can pay.  We have

          6  billions of dollars in surplus. What we have to get

          7  to is if not now when?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Right.

          9                 MR. LYNCH:  In the past, the City has

         10  said we're in fiscal crisis.  The deficits in the

         11  out year are enormous.  We have a $4 billion surplus

         12  now.  The out year deficits have been turned into

         13  surpluses, and we have a problem in the NYPD.  They

         14  have an ability to pay.  They don't have a

         15  willingness to pay.  It's about priorities.  Defend

         16  the failed policy of pattern bargaining or make sure

         17  our City streets continue to be safe.

         18                 The Mayor consistently says do more

         19  with less. Well, we have.  We've done it with 5,000

         20  less.  When you stand on the corner and have a 53, a

         21  car accident, and you call the police, the burden

         22  falls on the shoulder to those fewer number of

         23  police officers.  It takes longer.  You must wait

         24  longer.  We have to go with band aid approaches of

         25  impact, rather than having enough staffing.  It all
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          2  falls on the shoulder of a willingness on this

          3  Administration to solve a problem or them wanting to

          4  defend a failed policy of pattern bargaining.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Which I

          6  think you have appropriately labeled lazy

          7  bargaining.

          8                 MR. LYNCH:  Absolutely.  Rather than

          9  sit down at the table and say, okay, how do we solve

         10  these problems and have a give and take from both

         11  sides of the table, it's a take it or leave it.

         12  Here's the pattern, take it or leave it.  That's

         13  negotiations? That's pretty short negotiations.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So let me

         15  ask you about the arbitrator and the arbitration.

         16  Your last contract was a five percent over two

         17  years, right?

         18                 MR. LYNCH:  It was a 24- month

         19  period.  We had a five and a five.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Five and

         21  five over two years?

         22                 MR. LYNCH:  Yes, right, correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  The

         24  arbitrator actually, if I'm correct, wanted to give

         25  you something in excess of that but didn't because
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          2  of the City's concern about out year deficits.

          3                 MR. LYNCH:  What I testified to

          4  earlier the willingness and also the arbitrators

          5  aren't going to save the City from itself.  They

          6  hear the testimony, there's not problem, reduce the

          7  starting salary, so they do that.

          8                 What should be done is realistic

          9  issues.  For instance, the arbitrator, why did he go

         10  there?  Because the City insists on going there.

         11  Pay dollar for dollar for everything that happens.

         12  You're never going to get to an increased starting

         13  salary or not.  For instance, one of the demands on

         14  the table is for rookie police officers coming on

         15  the job in the future, if there's any that will, to

         16  reduce their annuity money, to reduce their holiday

         17  pay, literally give money to say they increased the

         18  starting salary by $10,000.  You're turning check to

         19  check.  You're not increasing the starting pay.

         20  They're lying.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So the

         22  arbitrator's starting salary of $25,100 was in

         23  response to the City's position of these out year

         24  deficits, and they could not sustain.

         25                 MR. LYNCH:  Correct, and the City's

                                                            144

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  insistence on paying for the raise, so the

          3  arbitrator goes there.  The last arbitrator said

          4  that we deserve 20 percent over four years, and

          5  tried to get the parties to go there.  The City

          6  wanted such Draconian givebacks, it would have

          7  continued to destroy the job and would not budge

          8  over pay a dollar for a dime.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So the

         10  arbitrator had first put on the table 20 percent

         11  over four years?

         12                 MR. LYNCH:  The statute is only 24

         13  months, but the arbitrator tried to, I guess, he

         14  used mediate for lack of a better term, to try to

         15  get the parties to come together and come to a 20

         16  percent raise over four years.  The City refused to

         17  do that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  The City

         19  refused to be part of that?

         20                 MR. LYNCH:  Absolutely.  They wanted

         21  such Draconian givebacks, it would have continued to

         22  destroy the job.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I'm trying

         24  to understand where we stand now.  The City is

         25  seeking the arbitration now, am I correct?
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          2                 MR. LYNCH:  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Okay.  Is

          4  there something that, and you're in an appeal

          5  process, so there are no negotiations ongoing at the

          6  moment?

          7                 MR. LYNCH:  Anytime throughout any

          8  part of this process anyone can come to the table

          9  and negotiate.  You can have gone through the

         10  arbitration process, the arbitrator could be running

         11  up the hallway with an arbitration award in their

         12  hand, you can say stop, let's talk.  But to do that,

         13  there has to be realistic negotiations, not just

         14  come back to the room and say, pattern, take it or

         15  leave it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  It seems to

         17  me though that we're in a juncture in our history,

         18  an atmosphere in our history of this City that it

         19  would be easy enough to come up with reasons to

         20  differentiate the different contracts and

         21  differentiate why certain uniformed services get

         22  paid a certain rate, whether it be FDNY or NYPD or

         23  Sanitation, whatever it is.

         24                 MR. LYNCH:  We're in a unique

         25  position.  The City has the money to do it.  There's
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          2  a number of reasons we have to do it because of the

          3  recruitment and retention.

          4                 Here's something else that gets lost.

          5    If the City only had a dollar in the bank, they

          6  have to address this problem. Why?  Because you

          7  cannot overestimate the safety factor in this City.

          8  It brings tourism, real estate.  That's tax revenue

          9  to the bottom line.  If we had a dollar, it would

         10  have to be spent on this issue.  It cannot be

         11  ignored.

         12                 One of the Council Members asked the

         13  City, are you being creative?  What are you coming

         14  up with that will help stop this log jam and fix

         15  this problem?  They talked about their recruitment

         16  efforts.  They talked about how we're going out to

         17  street festivals, and we're going across the

         18  country, and we're spending, I think it was upwards

         19  of $20 million on recruitment and getting 800.  The

         20  problem is the salary.  How do we get there?

         21                 We talked in the past there's been

         22  different panels that's looked at this problem over

         23  the years knowing that the crisis was on our

         24  forefront, and they made a number of suggestions.

         25  One was the Zuccotti report.  They said increase the
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          2  age of the New York City police officers, so you

          3  have more mature police officer, increase the

          4  educational requirement, so you have a police

          5  officer that can better handle the situations in

          6  this changing City.  And a third thing they said,

          7  increase the salary so you continue to get qualified

          8  people to become police officers.

          9                 Lo and behold, after the Zuccotti

         10  report, what did the City do?  They increased the

         11  age, they increased the education. They never

         12  increased the salary.  So you ask, how would that

         13  work? Why don't we have an education stipend for New

         14  York City police officers?  An incentive for them to

         15  get educated.  It also puts money in their pocket.

         16  It increases the salary.  Will they visit that?  We

         17  talk about the staffing levels across the City.

         18  Every other department across the country has gone

         19  to a modern chart of 10 or 12 hour tours within the

         20  day.  Why?  It gives the City of New York more

         21  police officers at any given time, high crime time,

         22  detail times, you name it.  They refuse to do that

         23  as well. They're not being creative.

         24                 We talk about terrorism.  We talk

         25  about the airport, terrorism pay.  Do you know that
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          2  the state park police gets a stipend for terrorism

          3  pay?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  State park

          5  police?

          6                 MR. LYNCH:  State park police.  Do

          7  you know what City police officers get for terrorism

          8  training, the increased things we have to know,

          9  putting ourselves at risk, 23 police officers

         10  getting killed that day, do you know what we get?

         11  Nothing.

         12                 They don't want to solve the problem.

         13    They're putting their head in the sand.  Now is

         14  the time to do it.  What did other agencies do?

         15  Sticking with the airport, what did the Port

         16  Authority do after September 11th when they lost 37

         17  Port Authority police officers, what did they do?

         18  They increased their staffing level.  How did they

         19  do it?  They got NYPD fully trained police officers.

         20    I went to a number of their graduations, which

         21  were solely New York City police officers that went

         22  to the Port Authority.  Why?  At top pay, they're

         23  making $80,000 as compared to our $59,000.  The

         24  problem is clear.  The solution is clearer.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I really
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          2  think you've hit on it right here.  So even if they

          3  wanted to keep it, this pattern bargaining, couldn't

          4  they come up with some additional responsibilities

          5  that would add, as you say, either a stipend or some

          6  type of additional salary because of terrorism

          7  training or something which would add to the pattern

          8  that they seem so wed to?

          9                 MR. LYNCH:  This absolutely could be

         10  solved, but there's not willingness to solve it on

         11  the City's part.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  And that

         13  would not only be for NYPD.  It could be for FDNY,

         14  for HASMAT training or something of that nature.

         15                 MR. LYNCH:  Every union can go to the

         16  table and negotiate what's best for that agency.

         17  All I ask is negotiate with the New York City Police

         18  Department, the New York PBA on the Police

         19  Department's behalf, to increase the salary to solve

         20  this problem. If the raises that the other agency

         21  has accepted, if that works in their agency, that's

         22  fine.  I don't begrudge them.  I don't question

         23  that.  But I know what they're offering because the

         24  pattern bargaining will not solve any problems in

         25  the NYPD regardless of how many times like a
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          2  salesman they keep repeating and this Administration

          3  keeps repeating the lie until people believe it.

          4  The starting salary is the problem.  Then how come

          5  when we're at $40,000, we couldn't fill an Academy

          6  class?  It's top pay.  It's market rate.  The

          7  problem is clear.  The solution is clearer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Mr.

          9  Chairman, it seems to me that pattern bargaining, as

         10  described here this morning, this afternoon, I

         11  should say, is the very definition of negotiating in

         12  bad faith.  The lack of good faith here is what has

         13  over the years, and particularly now, with a multi-

         14  billion dollar surplus that we find ourselves in

         15  this situation.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That's the

         17  purpose of the hearing.  A lot of us are learning

         18  things we did not know before. Let me play devil's

         19  advocate.  It's been reported.  You mentioned that

         20  it was the City that put the low starting salary on

         21  the table, and clearly that's not what the

         22  Administration says.  It's been reported that the

         23  Administration put forth various funding options,

         24  that being one of them and that the PBA advocated

         25  for the lower starting salaries, the one that the
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          2  arbitrator should take. Obviously, you don't agree,

          3  so what's your position on that?

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  Well, just their own

          5  statement says it. They say, we didn't put $21,000

          6  on the table, we gave it as an option.  Well, then

          7  who put it in there?  All I say to this is, look at

          8  the evidence presented, look at the transcript, look

          9  at the demands put across the table.  Nowhere will

         10  you find a demand on behalf of the New York City PBA

         11  to lower any salary level, top, middle or starting

         12  salary.  That was a City proposal and then in

         13  arbitration they testified to it.  I can't be

         14  clearer.  They're lying about it.  It was their

         15  option.  They testified to it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm not saying

         17  they didn't propose it.  I've read that they

         18  proposed it as one of many options, and that's the

         19  one you chose.

         20                 MR. LYNCH:  If the starting salary

         21  lowered was going to be a problem, and as they're

         22  dictating now saying it's the problem, it's the

         23  devil, why did they put it on the table?  Why did

         24  they put it before an arbitrator for an arbitrator

         25  to say here's the testimony, here's the demand.  Why
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          2  would you put it on the table if it's a problem, if

          3  that's the devil in the details?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  All right, I'm

          5  not going to ask it a third time, but let me move

          6  on.  You mentioned that part of the problem in

          7  arbitration was one testimony that there wasn't

          8  problem.  This Committee heard testimony two weeks

          9  ago from Ray Kelly that pattern bargaining is not

         10  working.  He also said that this is the greatest

         11  labor crisis the City's facing.  You heard testimony

         12  today from Chief Pineiro that this is a serious

         13  problem. Will the testimony elicited by this

         14  Committee be helpful to you in the future?

         15                 MR. LYNCH:  It absolutely will.

         16  Again, one of the things they're talking about is

         17  starting pay.  They're not looking at the whole

         18  picture.  In any job you go into you look at your

         19  career as a whole, and you say, I may not be making

         20  a lot of money now, but there's light at the end of

         21  the tunnel.  The salary is much better.  I'll be

         22  getting paid like my colleagues.  The problem in the

         23  NYPD, it's low in the middle, it's in the front and

         24  it's low at the top.  That's the problem.

         25                 Commissioner Kelly, unfortunately,
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          2  has no say in the negotiations in how to pay New

          3  York City police officers, which is disgraceful.

          4  Because he knows how to run the Department, and he

          5  needs help doing it.  Now it's  a crisis situation,

          6  and they're saying we have a problem.  Well, this

          7  problem has been going on for some time.

          8                 They had testimony here about the

          9  different things they're doing in recruitment.

         10  Years ago when we were paid at market rate, there

         11  was no problem having people sign up to take the

         12  NYPD, and there was not a retention problem.  We

         13  always said 20 and out, but you actually stayed 30.

         14  It was a good saying, but you stayed 30 years on

         15  this job.

         16                 Now they cannot fill an Academy

         17  class.  They couldn't do that for some time, so what

         18  they started to do, travel across the country.  They

         19  started reaching out in the military bases.  They

         20  started spending millions of dollars on recruitment.What

         21  used to happen?  They didn't spend all this money on

         22  recruitment and retention.  Why?  The salary was at

         23  market rate, and then the best poster person for the

         24  NYPD is a happy New York City police officer who

         25  would tell their children to come on the job, and we
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          2  know about the tradition of father and son and

          3  grandfather in the NYPD.  You would be out in

          4  patrol, you may see that kid in the corner that you

          5  see maybe going the wrong direction, you might grab

          6  him, you might speak to him and say, you what,

          7  there's an option here, kid.  Go on the NYPD.

          8  You're not going to be the richest on the block, but

          9  you're going to be stable.  It's a good job.  It's

         10  an honorable job, and you'll make a decent liveable

         11  wage.  That's not happening either.

         12                 The problem is the salary at top pay.

         13    Again, point to those other departments that have

         14  a lower starting salary where we have members from

         15  our job, members of rank, sergeants, specially

         16  people in emergency service and the detectives and

         17  the like, leaving our job higher in rank to go down

         18  a step in rank but to make more money in the long

         19  run.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  It's funny that

         21  you mention that because just two nights ago I was

         22  sitting with some officer friends of mine who were

         23  telling me exactly that.  The best recruiters you

         24  have are the officers right now when people come up

         25  to them in the car, they're telling them, don't come
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          2  to be a police officer.

          3                 MR. LYNCH:  Absolutely.  And that was

          4  from a time when there was no recruitment campaigns.

          5    It wasn't needed.  Now they have the glitzy

          6  recruitment campaigns.  They have all the computers,

          7  and we're reaching out to everybody under the sun

          8  that walks past the recruitment booth, and we're

          9  grabbing them by the collar and we're going to help

         10  them through the process.  But when they read the

         11  pamphlet, they see $59,000, and then you walk up the

         12  block, there's a Nassau County police officer

         13  handing out their recruitment pamphlet, $94,000.

         14  Where would you go?

         15                 You know, another problem that's here

         16  is of the police officers that are left, there's

         17  many on the job because of age and other reasons

         18  can't leave, but they would if they could.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Let me continue

         20  to play devil's advocate because I think it's

         21  working, and we're moving both sides towards some

         22  sort of resolution.

         23                 You said that the Mayor has, I think,

         24  it was recklessly put out the information that if we

         25  go against pattern bargaining here, it will affect
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          2  the other unions.  I think to some extent he meant

          3  other unions would just come next time and say, the

          4  police got 10 percent, we want it.  But I think it

          5  has been put out there that other unions would have

          6  the right to do that.  You've said no.  Maybe it's

          7  an urban legend, but I've been told at least one

          8  other union does have that actual right to go back

          9  if you do break pattern bargaining, so I want to get

         10  that straight today.

         11                 MR. LYNCH:  Me too clauses are

         12  illegal.  You're not allowed to say, the Council

         13  Members got this raise, and we want the same thing

         14  because they did so well, and I know that's not

         15  true. But nonetheless it's illegal for that to

         16  happen.  So the City is putting out falsehoods that

         17  the world is going to end if we pay NYPD police

         18  officers a proper, liveable wage.

         19                 Do you know what the reality is?

         20  It's getting worse and worse, and we might face the

         21  end if we don't solve this problem.  They're sending

         22  out scare tactics, the world, leapfrogging, all

         23  these different terminologies they use.  One union

         24  is going to ask for the same thing.  Look, when a

         25  union comes to the table, have them prove their case
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          2  for a raise.  That's all we ever asked.  That's

          3  fair.  We're willing to do it.

          4                 MR. MURRAY:  Frankly, what it is, is

          5  an effort to influence and a potential arbitrator by

          6  saying whatever the PBA settles at, it's going to be

          7  10 times that amount because every other union in

          8  the City has to get that.  So it's, in effect, a

          9  poison pill to prevent an arbitrator from awarding

         10  us a fair wage increase that they put on to the

         11  arbitrator the fact that we voluntarily are going to

         12  give this raise to everyone else in the City and

         13  dramatically increase the costs of the settlement

         14  with the PBA.

         15                 MR. LYNCH:  I point to the last two

         16  arbitrations

         17  who cast aside pattern bargaining, did differently

         18  for the NYPD. Did the world end?  Was there

         19  leapfrogging?  It didn't happen.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Your testimony

         21  is so useful, I want to ask every question that

         22  you've brought up.  You mentioned Operation Impact.

         23  You called it the last band aid.  You heard what

         24  Council Member Gentile and I said about it.  I

         25  wanted to know your opinion, number one of the
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          2  program itself and, number two, of how that's going

          3  to be affected by the problem.

          4                 MR. LYNCH:  You have to ask the

          5  question why do we need a program like that?  Again,

          6  to earlier testimony to a question, is ComStat know

          7  where the crime is, have the staffing to go there?

          8  The problem is now when they see a spike in crime on

          9  the computer, which translates to real people

         10  getting hurt on the street, they don't have enough

         11  police officers in that command to control what's

         12  going on in their own precinct, so they have to what

         13  we call fly police officers over to do that.

         14                 What they should be is enough

         15  staffing at every precinct station house that that

         16  commanding officer, he or she has enough police

         17  officers to take care of the problem in their own

         18  commands.  Because we still have all those other

         19  issues that come up from being in a vibrant city

         20  with the details, the festivals, and parades and the

         21  like.  The problem with this program is not, does

         22  this program work, it's why do you need it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I think Council

         24  Member Gentile and I agree with that assessment.  I

         25  know you don't represent sergeants, detectives and

                                                            159

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  others, but I've been told that pattern bargaining

          3  also has resulted in a compacting of salaries, which

          4  has hurt officers' ability to move up.  What's your

          5  position on that?

          6                 MR. LYNCH:  Well, again, it's because

          7  the City insists on saying in this particular case

          8  police officers got this, sergeants and lieutenants

          9  on up the rank have to do the same.  It's causing

         10  problems, yes.  No one wants to get promoted.  Why

         11  is it happening?  It's happening because the City is

         12  insisting on sticking with that policy that doesn't

         13  work.  Operation Impact, we love to point to, well,

         14  it's having a problem in the NYPD. Operation Impact

         15  is in danger now because we're not bringing them in

         16  the front door.  It has nothing to do with the next

         17  ranks.  It's being created in the next ranks because

         18  the labor commissioner is saying it has to be done

         19  this way.  He's wrong.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm about done.

         21    Let me go to Council Member Kendall Stewart.  We

         22  were joined briefly by Council Member Katz, who has

         23  another hearing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair. Earlier, you heard me asking a couple of
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          2  questions.  I want to know at this time as we see

          3  the gravity of this problem in terms of the

          4  salaries, do you have a solution how we can resolve

          5  that?

          6                 MR. LYNCH:  I surely do.  The

          7  solution is to pay New York City police officers at

          8  market rate.  Pay New York City police officers like

          9  their counterparts in the agency that surround us.

         10  We'll talk about the Port Authority who serve some

         11  of the same streets and facilities that New York

         12  City police officers do. They're getting paid a top

         13  pay, $80,000.  Where are we losing our members to?

         14  To the Port Authority.  Again, the problem is clear,

         15  the solution is clearer.  Raise the top pay to

         16  market rate.  Get us on a road to getting there, and

         17  we'll solve this problem.  We have the money to do

         18  it.  If not now, when?  We have an ability to pay.

         19  There's an unwillingness to pay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  We do see

         21  that we have a surplus in the budget, but the folks

         22  are saying, well, this was something that was

         23  negotiated.  This is in the contract, and we cannot

         24  give them what they didn't ask for.  How do you

         25  respond to that?
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          2                 MR. LYNCH:  Look at the demands of

          3  the New York City PBA who says pay it at market

          4  rate.  We tagged it towards the Port Authority

          5  police of New York and New Jersey who's being paid

          6  $80,000 more.  That will solve the problem.

          7                 It's the City insisting on sticking

          8  to this failed policy, which is causing this issue.

          9  Remember I spoke earlier about the Zuccotti report,

         10  and that was only one.  We had two others, the

         11  Goldberg award, the Giuliani Commission on Community

         12  Relations.  That all came to the same thing, to have

         13  enough qualified candidates on both ends of the

         14  spectrum, pay us a decent liveable wage.  They've

         15  ignored both of them.

         16                 It's obvious what needs to be done in

         17  the NYPD.  How can we ask our young folks out on the

         18  street to go out and educate yourself, have their

         19  parents or themselves work second and third jobs to

         20  educate themselves, and then say become a New York

         21  City police officer.  And then after being on the

         22  job for 20 years, we'll pay you $59,000 while those

         23  other folks that sat in the classroom next to them

         24  is going to make salaries that are much, more.

         25                 We have to ask ourselves, do we want
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          2  a professional police department?  Do we want to

          3  continue being New York's finest? I say as a

          4  resident of the City, yes.  How do we do it?  Pay us

          5  like the other departments that don't have the

          6  recruitment and retention problem.  I know it's

          7  repetitive for me to say that, but I keep repeating

          8  it because it's the truth and it's the answer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         10  On all of that, we have been saying that this salary

         11  is really atrocious.  It's too low.  We give it all

         12  different names, but from your side, what do you

         13  think that we from the City Council's side can do to

         14  make a difference.  How could we make it happen?

         15  Because the Mayor proposed the budget, we pass it,

         16  but the fact is, how could we make it happen?  What

         17  is your suggestion?

         18                 MR. LYNCH:  Well, one of the things

         19  is by having hearings like this where it becomes

         20  public both sides.  The Mayor has a bully pulpit, so

         21  of course one side gets reported.  So this is

         22  important to shed a light on the real problems and

         23  where they do not have a willingness to solve this

         24  problem.  I think that's important.

         25                 I think to use your bully pulpit
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          2  here, and who are you speaking for?  You're speaking

          3  for the residents in your community district.  They

          4  know there's a problem.  Why do they care?  Because

          5  it's a safety issue for them.  When we talk about

          6  crime stats, it's not just numbers on the paper.

          7  It's easy to say, well, the numbers say this.  We're

          8  talking about human beings on the other end of that

          9  number who were robbed or otherwise.  And it's not

         10  always those dramatic crimes that go on.  It could

         11  be the crime where you come out and the window is

         12  broken on your car.  In my neighborhood it could be

         13  graffiti on the fence in front of your house that

         14  used to be taken care of, now there's not enough

         15  police officers to do it.

         16                 We talk about the broken windows

         17  theory.  Take care of those little problems so they

         18  don't grow into big problems. Then from doing those

         19  investigations, you'll solve the big problems.

         20  Well, I'm here to say broken windows theory, the

         21  window was cracked.  Are we going to get out the

         22  putty and fix it, or are we going to wait until it's

         23  broken?  Are we going to wait until it's too late?

         24  We know what's going to happen.

         25                 I grew up in this City in the 70's
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          2  where it was in decay.  No one wanted to address it.

          3    It only got worse.  There was a fiscal crisis.

          4  We're not in a fiscal crisis.  Is there a

          5  willingness to stop the flood now?  Is there a

          6  willingness to solve the problem now?  I talk about

          7  my own community precinct, not enough police

          8  officers to keep the City streets in the 111 safe.

          9  Crime visited my own home.  If that crime visits the

         10  home of a police officer where the whole bloody

         11  neighborhood knows you're cop, what does the average

         12  citizen have?  What chance does he or she have?  We

         13  have to solve this problem.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Now usually

         15  the Department would give us a figure as to what

         16  their budget should be, and invariably what we do is

         17  we increase it.  But we come back, we find that they

         18  either don't spend the money.  We try to find ways

         19  in which we should increase it.  We should do things

         20  to make sure that we are safe, the Department is

         21  safe.  How can we make it happen if they're not

         22  spending the money?

         23                 MR. LYNCH:  That's a good point.  One

         24  of the things that happens is, they're also making

         25  money off the NYPD by the money they're not spending
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          2  on hiring police officers, the salary, they're

          3  rolling that back in.  That should be rolled into

          4  salaries. If you take that money, if you take the

          5  almost $20 million they spoke of in recruitment and

          6  keychains and videos and all that good stuff like

          7  that, put that into salary, I think we're on the

          8  road to solving this problem.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         10  I thank you for your enlightenment, and I hope to

         11  talk to you in private about this further.  Thank

         12  you.

         13                 MR. LYNCH:  Thank you, Council

         14  Member.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  My whole next

         16  line of questioning was about graffiti and quality

         17  of life.

         18                 MR. LYNCH:  Your neighborhood too,

         19  eh?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I was writing

         21  it all down here.  Now you've answered that question

         22  and most of the ones I had, so I know that the

         23  Administration is here.  They've heard that you are

         24  willing to talk.  Hopefully, they're willing to talk

         25  also. We've made some progress today.  I've got a
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          2  million more things I could find out from you today,

          3  but we'll have some more meetings down the road, as

          4  Kendall said in private.  Again, I hope that we are

          5  moving both sides towards some sort of resolution

          6  here.  Thank you for coming down today, all of you.

          7  Hopefully, some may stay around to hear the

          8  Independent Budget, and I know we have John Jay, a

          9  distinguished panel from their office also, to

         10  discuss this problem.  So thank you for coming in.

         11                 MR. LYNCH:  Mr. Chairman, I thank you

         12  for having this hearing, allowing me to speak out at

         13  this hearing, hearing both sides.  I want to thank

         14  my Executive Board who took the time to be here.

         15  That's how important it is to us as New York City

         16  police officers, and I thank your fellow Council

         17  Members for their questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I think we're

         19  probably going to take a few minute break just

         20  because everyone is going to leave to talk to you

         21  some more, Pat, and I want everyone to hear the next

         22  panel, which will be the Independent Budget Office,

         23  so we'll be back in a few minutes.

         24                      (Brief recess taken)

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Okay, let's all
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          2  find seats and get started.  We're going to start

          3  with the Independent Budget Office, Preston Niblack.

          4  Thank you for your testimony today.  I have read it,

          5  and it does, thank goodness, verify most of what

          6  we've been saying.  There aren't any significant

          7  differences, but we appreciate you weighing in on

          8  this very important topic.

          9                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Absolutely.

         10  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And your

         12  patience.  For John Jay, who's here also being very

         13  patient, we're going to attempt to move this as

         14  quickly as we can.

         15                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Rather than

         16  read my testimony, I think I'll just go through and

         17  make a few highlights and observations that I think

         18  may be pertinent in particular to what the testimony

         19  you've heard previously.

         20                 Again, my name is Preston Niblack.

         21  I'm Deputy Director at the IBO.  I'm also joined by

         22  Bernie O'Brien, who's our Senior Public Safety

         23  Analyst on my right and Martin Davis, who's our

         24  Labor Analyst on my left, to help me answer any

         25  questions you might have.
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          2                 I'm not going to rehash the basics.

          3  As you've heard, we've had a ten percent decline in

          4  the police force since 2000.  The Mayor had stated a

          5  goal of bringing the force back up to about 38,000,

          6  a little under 38,000 and those efforts have fallen

          7  short.

          8                 The failure to reach the uniformed

          9  staffing targets is mostly a recruitment problem.

         10  There is some of this that's a problem that has a

         11  retention aspect also.  But, as you heard, the

         12  number of applicants are down and particularly after

         13  the introduction of the lower starting salary as a

         14  result of the last arbitration decision.

         15                 Up until July, 2004, to talk about

         16  the retention dimension for a moment, up until the

         17  July, 2004 class at the Police Academy, the

         18  Department had been steadily improving in terms of

         19  retention.  Resignations within the first year fell

         20  from 12 percent with the September, 2000 class.

         21  That, of course, meant that their first year

         22  coincided with September 11th.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  When you say

         24  first year, are you including the Academy?

         25                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I couldn't get

          3  past that because that's the area where we're having

          4  some significant disagreement on.

          5                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  The Academy

          6  attrition rates, they've fluctuated somewhat, but

          7  they had been relatively stable up through July,

          8  2005.  So we have numbers that are in the 7.5

          9  percent range for July, 2001 and 2002.  Then it fell

         10  to 5.6 in July, 2003, 7.1 in January, 2004 class.

         11  The July, 2004 class was 3.6, which is very low, and

         12  then January, 2005 class was 5.7 and then the July,

         13  2005 class was up to 7.5.

         14                 The next class, the January, 2006

         15  class, is the class that came in with the new

         16  $25,100 starting salary.  The attrition rate during

         17  the Academy was 10.4 percent.  The next class, July,

         18  2006 was 13.7 percent, and so far in the January,

         19  2007 class, the current class, the attrition rate is

         20  15 percent, but at the rate that we're seeing

         21  resignations, we expect that it's going to hit 20

         22  percent or more by the time it's done.  So that

         23  really has jumped up tremendously since prior to the

         24  arbitration decision.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And without
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          2  going through every year, after the Academy in the

          3  first few years, what have you seen?  Have you seen

          4  a trend?

          5                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Yes, we

          6  started to see up through July, 2004 really a steady

          7  improvement in retention with the rate of

          8  resignations within the first year or two had

          9  steadily come down.  We had a peak of about 12

         10  percent with the September, 2000 class, and it hit a

         11  low in the July, 2004 class, just over 5 percent.

         12  I'm citing resignations within the first year.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  But you're

         14  again including the Academy?

         15                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  I'm

         16  including the Academy.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Because these

         18  skew our numbers completely because everyone else

         19  has talked about the Academy separate than the rest

         20  of the time.  It may be too late for you to break

         21  that out for us, but that's kind of what we're

         22  interested in, after the Academy.

         23                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  All right.

         24  Let me see how well I can do this in my head.  Let

         25  me just take a couple of dates.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  I'm bringing

          3  this on you.  If you want to give it to us tomorrow,

          4  that's fine.

          5                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  No, that's

          6  all right. I'll give you the final -- let me just

          7  read some numbers sort of off the top of my head,

          8  and we'll give you a series later.

          9                 The rate between the end of the

         10  Academy and the end of the first year, so in the six

         11  months following the Academy, in July, 2001 and

         12  July, 2002 the rate was about 3.5 percent.  In July,

         13  2004 it was about 2.5 percent, excuse me, 1.5

         14  percent rather.  By January, 2006, again the first

         15  class here, you had a rate that was about 2 percent.

         16

         17                 It's really people living, I think --

         18  I'll give you the full series, but just eyeballing

         19  it here, I would say it looks as if it's really been

         20  once you get through the Academy, if you can make it

         21  through that first six months on $25,000, then the

         22  rate has not necessarily gone up after that within

         23  the first year.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  You heard the

         25  testimony.  The Police Department agreed with what
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          2  you're just saying right now, but the PBA pretty

          3  much vehemently disagree with those numbers, but

          4  your numbers are actually backing up what the Police

          5  Department said.

          6                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Yes, I

          7  believe so.  We're not seeing a big rate of increase

          8  in the resignations with, for instance, with those

          9  more than five years but less than 20 years, before

         10  they reach their service retirement eligibility

         11  time.  We're not seeing a big rate of increase.  As

         12  a matter of fact, we're actually seeing some slight

         13  improvement, at least through the end of calendar

         14  year 2006.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  That's why it's

         16  nice to have independent analysis, thank you.

         17                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  It has also

         18  been mentioned the issue of the lack of contracts

         19  for sergeants has compressed the pay rate so that

         20  there are sergeants now beginning salaries are just

         21  $1,500 more than the top police officer pay, and

         22  this has really affected the internal labor market

         23  in the ability or the interest of police officers in

         24  jumping up to sergeants since you're really getting

         25  a very minimal pay increase for considerably
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          2  expanded duties.

          3                 It also, I think, it means that's a

          4  point at which you might expect to see officers

          5  deciding to move to other jurisdictions, as Mr.

          6  Lynch pointed out.  But again we're not really

          7  seeing that so far in what we're looking at the pay

          8  roll statistics that we've been looking at.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  And if we don't

         10  change pattern bargaining, then that difference in

         11  salary between an officer and a sergeant will not be

         12  able to be changed.

         13                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Well, given

         14  that the sergeants have -- I mean, their last

         15  contract was in 2005.  I mean, if they catch up with

         16  the new contract that brings them through to 2007 or

         17  8, you will start to see the difference, but then

         18  again it depends upon what the arbitrator does with

         19  the police officer contract, which has expired

         20  already in 2004.  The next arbitration won't even

         21  bring us up to the current year because they're only

         22  allowed to settle for two years in an arbitration.

         23                 So, yes, there is kind of this lag

         24  between the settlement times means that it's going

         25  to be very difficult to sort of set a stable
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          2  differential that makes it an attractive, or at

          3  least a clearly attractive option, I think.

          4                 This is all aggravated by the fact

          5  that we now see an accelerated rate of retirements

          6  as the wave of officers who were hired in the early

          7  1980's reach their service retirement age.  So we

          8  are starting to see a very large number of service

          9  retirements just because of the particular age of

         10  that cohort.

         11                 But this has really had a significant

         12  fiscal dimension in that the City has regularly

         13  taken out money out of the budget simply to

         14  recognize the fact that there was essentially a

         15  surplus for uniformed personnel in the budget given

         16  that as we've had this turnover, we have lower

         17  average salaries.  That, of course, was even more

         18  true since the new starting salary of $25,100, but

         19  even before that you can see very clearly, if you

         20  graph it, sort of this steadily declining average

         21  police officer salary.

         22                 So this has allowed the City to take

         23  out, and we don't have a number right in front of us

         24  because we're having a little trouble quite backing

         25  it out, but I would say it's probably been in the
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          2  neighborhood of a couple hundred million dollars in

          3  savings for Fiscal Year 2008 that we've accumulated

          4  over time because of lower average salaries.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  The other area

          6  of disagreement was, or one of the other areas, was

          7  the effect on other unions of a settlement here, and

          8  the Administration has alluded to reopening other

          9  contracts.  The PBA said that's illegal actually.

         10  What is your position?

         11                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  The me too

         12  clauses are illegal, but the UFA contract that was

         13  just recently signed did have a clause that

         14  essentially back once the other, in particular, the

         15  police officer.  I forget what it was called.

         16                 MR. DAVIS:  My name is Marty Davis.

         17  I'm a Labor Analyst at IBO.  In effect, what the UFA

         18  contract had was a sort of retroactive contract

         19  reopener clause.  Now in contrast with a me too

         20  clause, which mandates if a certain union gets a

         21  certain wage rate, they have to give that wage rate,

         22  a contract reopener clause simply says that you have

         23  to open up the contract.  It doesn't mandate that

         24  they have to get more.  My understanding is the

         25  reason that it was in there is in the event that the
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          2  PBA wins more than the uniformed contract pattern of

          3  3 percent and 3.15 percent, at least they have the

          4  ability to get wage parity with the PBA.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Do you believe

          6  that's legal?

          7                 MR. DAVIS:  I'm not a labor lawyer,

          8  but I would think it's legal.  Contract reopeners

          9  are different from me too. Me too mandates it.

         10  Contract reopeners simply --

         11                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Permits it

         12  essentially.

         13                 MR. DAVIS:  Permits it.  It just

         14  opens up the door to allow negotiations.  I mean, it

         15  may well be that the Labor Board might say it's a de

         16  facto me too clause, but I'll defer to the Labor

         17  Board for that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member

         19  Gentile, you do have any questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you

         21  also for coming down.  I thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         22  I'm just curious then, this me too clause that

         23  really isn't a me too clause in the Fire Department

         24  contract negates the agreement if you reopen the

         25  contract?
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          2                 MR. DAVIS:  It's not a per se me too

          3  clause.  It's just simply a contract reopener

          4  clause.  All it does is say in the event that it

          5  exceeds the 3 percent and 3.15 percent, the contract

          6  can be reopened.  It does not mandate, at least my

          7  understanding of the clause, does not mandate that

          8  they have to give in the event that the PBA wins via

          9  interest arbitration a harder rate than the 3

         10  percent and 3.15 percent because that's what the UFA

         11  negotiated the previous contract.  It was 5, 5, 3

         12  and 3.15.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  But does it

         14  mandate that the contract be reopened?

         15                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  It does not

         16  mandate that the contract be reopened.  It just

         17  allows for that to open. Obviously, either said can

         18  take a position.  The City could say, well, that's

         19  it, we're not giving any more, and since there's no

         20  provision for interest arbitration for fire

         21  fighters, it's not clear that they would really make

         22  much progress.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Is that the

         24  only contract that you know of that had that

         25  provision?
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          2                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Yes, right

          3  now.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Okay.  I'm

          5  curious in your testimony about the resignation

          6  rates after the Academy, you say you show no

          7  significant change or difference.  Then how does

          8  that account for the withdrawal numbers that we

          9  heard earlier from the PBA concerning the withdrawal

         10  from the pension fund?  How do those two figures

         11  correlate?

         12                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  I haven't

         13  seen the PBA's numbers, so I'm not exactly sure what

         14  numbers they were citing.  It can be a little bit

         15  tricky to count these numbers because you can leave

         16  the Police Department, for instance, or any other

         17  service, and not put in your pension papers for

         18  awhile because your credits will transfer.  So if

         19  don't really do anything about it, you might

         20  actually have left three years previously, but you

         21  don't get counted until later.  So there's, like

         22  with everything in the City, budget, and personnel,

         23  there's always a counting issue.  What we're looking

         24  at is payroll data essentially, so this is change in

         25  payroll status.  So we'll send you a series of our
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          2  own and then we'd be happy if the PBA has provided

          3  you with something to look at and see if we can

          4  understand what the differences are and try and

          5  reconcile them.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So they

          7  might not necessarily be in conflict, you're saying?

          8                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  They might

          9  not necessarily be in conflict, but the conclusion

         10  that I draw based on the data that we have right now

         11  is that the -- I don't see evidence that once people

         12  get through the Academy that the resignation rate

         13  has gone up.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Council Member,

         15  I know that there are some PBA representatives

         16  eating up top there, I guess. If you would be so

         17  kind as to maybe provide your information. Frank

         18  Trumantano will do that, so we can have it analyzed?

         19    Thank you.

         20                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  And don't

         21  throw food.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Just to

         23  conclude.  So your chart that you've put here,

         24  you've shown us this Police Academy resignation rate

         25  2000, 2007, actually could end up being, the numbers
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          2  could end up being a lot worse than what are shown

          3  here. You're saying that from a low or 3.6 percent

          4  resignation rate from the Academy, which is the low

          5  number here over since March, 2000, the lowest was

          6  the 3.6 percent resignation rate in July, 2004.  It

          7  could go from that 3.6 number to as high as 20

          8  percent come the January, 2007 class?

          9                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Right.  The

         10  number of resignations there that you see for the

         11  January, 2007, the 205 is as of the middle of May,

         12  so we're just making a projection based on the rate

         13  of resignations where you would expect something

         14  like maybe 280 or so resignations by the end of the

         15  Academy, which would be a 20 percent rate.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So even if

         17  you take the most recent prior class to the January,

         18  2007, is the July 2006, and that had a 13.7 percent

         19  rate of resignation from the Academy.  So even if

         20  you just take the two most recent classes, we go

         21  from a 13.7 percent resignation rate, which has

         22  already been exceeded in the January class now in

         23  May, so for 13.7 can go as high as 20 percent in

         24  this most recent class.  So it seems to me that

         25  these resignation rates are starting to skyrocket.
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          2                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  The

          3  resignation rates in the Academy are clearly not

          4  only at historically very high levels, but they are

          5  accelerating, and I'm honestly not quite sure why

          6  they're accelerating, but it's clear that they are

          7  losing members at a higher rate during their Academy

          8  tenure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE: Well, I think

         10  some of the testimony we heard here today might

         11  explain some of that, but it's clear, Mr. Chairman,

         12  just by looking at this chart, that we have some

         13  really serious problems, just looking at the Academy

         14  resignation rates that are just now skyrocketing.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you, and

         16  I have a lot more questions, but I'm only going to

         17  ask one because I know John Jay needs to go, and

         18  they've been very patient also.

         19                 So it's just the fire fighters who

         20  have this potential of reopening their contract.

         21  Are you aware of how fire fighters pay New York City

         22  compares to surrounding jurisdictions or other major

         23  cities?

         24                 MR. DAVIS:  I'm not.  We're starting

         25  to look at the Police Department actually, just do a
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          2  fairly comprehensive look at comparable pay, and we

          3  will also start to do the same with fire fighters.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  In light of

          5  that, I think it's important and may come up.  Thank

          6  you, gentlemen, very helpful, and we do look

          7  forward, my staff here who has been so helpful in

          8  this hearing, will look forward to working with you

          9  to sort this situation out.

         10                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  We'll get

         11  that information that you asked for to you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Thank you, and

         13  I know that PBA will get you some additional

         14  information also.  Thank you.

         15                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Thank you.

         16                 MR. DAVIS:  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  We'll now hear

         18  from Dr. Gene O'Donnell from John Jay College.  I

         19  know we had some other people who unfortunately

         20  couldn't wait so long, but this has been such a

         21  productive hearing and unfortunately it's running a

         22  little long. So thank you for your patience today.

         23  Gene, we look forward to hearing from you.

         24                 DEPUTY DIRECTOR NIBLACK:  Mr.

         25  Chairman, thank you so much.  This really has been a
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          2  tremendously helpful, and hopefully this will have a

          3  reverberating effect throughout the media and

          4  throughout our City and bring some more reason to

          5  what needs to be a situation that has to be

          6  corrected.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Let me thank

          8  you for actually remaining around to hear this very

          9  important testimony at the end. That shows your

         10  commitment to this.  Thank you.

         11                 PROFESSOR O'DONNELL:  Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chairman, and to my own Councilman, Councilman

         13  Gentile.  I will be very brief, and I think what

         14  I'll do here is probably just raise a couple of

         15  issues that may not have come up, and then

         16  underscore a few issues that have come up.

         17                 The first thing I have to say to you,

         18  Mr. Chairman, is thank you for having this hearing.

         19  Clearly, the Council did not have to get involved

         20  here.  Clearly, the Council could say collective

         21  bargaining is where this lies, but I think you, Mr.

         22  Chairman, have recognized that this is a really

         23  serious issue.

         24                 We're not looking at an issue that

         25  can be solved with 5 percent raises here or there
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          2  that's going to be fixed in the ordinary course of

          3  collective bargaining or arbitration.  What we're

          4  looking at in the New York Police Department, not

          5  only in the entry level issue, but really across the

          6  board, is a meltdown. It's a meltdown of

          7  recruitment.  It is a meltdown in terms of officers

          8  wanting to stay within the first few years, officers

          9  at the top end of their service who are leaving, and

         10  it is not something, again, that's going to be fixed

         11  incrementally.

         12                 We have published reports of police

         13  sergeants in the New York Police Department leaving,

         14  Sergeant Campos reported in the New York Times,

         15  left, and that's not the only time that's happened,

         16  to become rookie officers in Nassau.

         17                 And has probably has been alluded to,

         18  we're not just talking Nassau and Suffolk and the

         19  Port Authority, we're talking about many, many

         20  police departments now that pay far superior wages,

         21  not $10,000 or $15,000 more, $30,000, $40,000.  New

         22  Jersey State Police, the New York State Police, and

         23  one thing I would caution the Committee is that this

         24  starting salary is becoming a little bit of a false

         25  issue.  It will be fixed soon enough.  It will
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          2  certainly probably go to $35,000 and then the

          3  question the Committee has to ask is, what then?

          4  This $35,000 starting salary, is that going to make

          5  NYPD a competitive place to work?  I think clearer

          6  the answer is going to be no.  $35,000 is not where

          7  we need to be.

          8                 The salary for New York City cops as

          9  we sit here today up until about five years is

         10  $45,000.  That's what a street cop is making.  What

         11  is keeping those cops afloat at this point? Overtime

         12  is keeping those cops afloat.  It's their lifeline,

         13  and should it be severed at any time, many of them

         14  would be in extreme economic duress.

         15                 It also, I think, needs to be raised

         16  that this entire issue of officers not being paid

         17  properly, officers resigning en masse, officers

         18  constantly looking for other departments they can go

         19  to, has created a sort of what I would call a going

         20  out business atmosphere.  I don't think anybody

         21  really wants to work in that kind of an atmosphere

         22  where there's a feeling that if you haven't yet

         23  left, then other colleagues will soon be leaving.

         24                 Two real important points again, I'm

         25  going to say very briefly.  One, New York City cops
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          2  work, this is the most probably responsible,

          3  pressurized job in the United States in terms of law

          4  enforcement.  Not only do officers have

          5  extraordinary powers that they have to discharge

          6  almost what you would say is quasi judicial powers,

          7  but here in the City, as we saw over the weekend,

          8  they have issues about first responding,

          9  responsibilities to terrorism, and they are under

         10  enormous pressure, thanks to the CompStat, which is

         11  necessary.

         12                 But cops in New York City are under

         13  paralleled pressure to produce results in thwarting

         14  crime and responding to crime.  There is no other

         15  department in the country that has that. Beyond

         16  that, the accountability officers have.  There's an

         17  enormous level of accountability for New York City

         18  cops.

         19                 When you put together the

         20  accountability that cops have to face and the

         21  responsibility they face, it would seem what you

         22  really need in the City is a recruiting advantage.

         23  You need a financial advantage.  What we don't even

         24  have is a parody situation.  We have the cops facing

         25  an extreme disadvantage.  By one count, by the way,
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          2  there's been a survey done, 200 law enforcement

          3  agencies in the United States, the NYPD is 157th of

          4  those departments, which with all due respect, is

          5  really an obscenity at this point.

          6                 One other thing I wanted to mention

          7  is that we're seeing possibly for the first time

          8  ever, the police officer job not being a middle

          9  class job anymore.  It's not a gateway into the

         10  middle class.  This is maybe part of a wider issue.

         11                 I noticed District Council 37 has

         12  negotiated a contract.  One of their top priorities

         13  is a right for their people to live out of the City.

         14  Queen's D.A. Brown wants his people to have the

         15  right to live out of the City.  So maybe we're going

         16  to see a point at which the people who protect the

         17  City can't even live here.  They're going to be

         18  forced to live outside of the City. For a long time,

         19  we said, wow, it would be terrific to have cops live

         20  in the community, interact with people, it would

         21  build the fabric of the City.  Now it seems that

         22  those officers will possibly not have a potential to

         23  live there.

         24                 A couple other quick points.

         25  Clearly, the whole 1990's was alluded to, I can't
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          2  tell you at John Jay how many times we get calls.  I

          3  just got one before I sat down here from the

          4  economist actually.  Why can't we be more like New

          5  York City?  What are they doing in New York City?

          6  What is the miracle in New York City?  You only have

          7  to look, by the way, a close example to the problems

          8  that you have when you dis-invest in a City in law

          9  enforcement, Newark, New Jersey.  The Los Angeles

         10  Police Department where a couple of weeks ago they

         11  had a riot that got out of control there.  Why?

         12  It's a department that's completely under resourced.And

         13  if you look at the Newark example, they're trying to

         14  fix that, but really if you dis- invest, you can't

         15  automatically turn things around on the dime.  You

         16  can't say, starting today, the City's going to be

         17  safe.  You might have to suffer through a decade of

         18  disorder and decline and increased violent crime.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Has L.A. been

         20  increasing?  Or are you saying it's just woefully

         21  understaffed to begin with?  Or have they been

         22  allowing it to deteriorate?

         23                 PROFESSOR O'DONNELL:  A little bit of

         24  both.  They're pretty much frozen at 9,000 officers,

         25  and that is an absurd number. There doesn't seem be
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          2  a will to really fund the organization fully

          3  although I will say the officers there are pretty

          4  well compensated vis- a- vis our officers.

          5                 One other final, I think I'm wrapping

          6  up here.  But one final point, the issue of

          7  corruption.  Because one of the things I had the

          8  privilege at John Jay to do is go around to Africa

          9  and Eastern Europe and train police officers there.

         10  What you'd find out in many places in the world it's

         11  not unusual for officers to engage in what's kind of

         12  referred to as kind of a subsistence corruption.

         13  Every knows to live that you have to involve

         14  yourselves in improper conduct.  We should never be

         15  complacent about the potential for a resurgence of

         16  that kind of a problem. Police officers are taking

         17  home $600 every two weeks.  Police officers who are

         18  on Day One, the day they're hired, cannot meet their

         19  bills.  No way, no how can they meet their bills.

         20  We should not at any respect, disregard the

         21  possibility that going forward that could create a

         22  problem.

         23                 So this is going to take a real

         24  serious across the board approach.  This is not

         25  going to be done with three to four, five percent
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          2  increases.  This is a serious issue, and what the

          3  Council is doing here is courageous and it's

          4  necessary.  You deserve the praise of all of us who

          5  are gravely concerned about the future of one the

          6  nation's most respected institutions, our Police

          7  Department.

          8                 Certainly, this idea that we're going

          9  to win collective bargaining points at the

         10  collective bargaining table and lose a whole

         11  generation of police officers seems to be a foolish

         12  idea.  This idea that by keeping raises so small

         13  that you can show an ever increasing budget surplus.

         14                 We see it, by the way, at John Jay

         15  where young people, when recruitment day comes,

         16  young people have an ever diminishing interest in

         17  the NYPD.  We see departments coming from all over

         18  the country, some of them, incidentally, include

         19  officers who recruit.  We had one department from

         20  Virginia, both of their recruiters were former NYPD

         21  officers.  So you have this whole revolving door

         22  effect.

         23                 I would just finally say, no question

         24  that the first thing that's going to suffer here is

         25  patrol.  I did notice yesterday reading one of the
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          2  local papers from Queens, I think it's the 114th

          3  Precinct they were alluding to, that the patrol

          4  strength in the precinct went from, I believe it was

          5  320 officers to 180 officers.  Patrol is the first

          6  casualty here, and as the Committee has pointed out,

          7  not just in terms of areas that are suffering

          8  violent crime, but also quieter communities we need

          9  to have the officers available to do the jobs.

         10                 So once again, it's a privilege to

         11  testify here today.  Once again, I sincerely want to

         12  thank you, Mr. Chairman, because the Council and the

         13  Public Safety Committee did not have to inject

         14  yourself here.  You're doing a public service.

         15  You're going, I think, hopefully stop what is at

         16  this point a historic mistake that we're making in

         17  mistreating people in the Department.

         18                 I just wanted to make one final

         19  point, which is anything the Council can do also to

         20  look at non- economic ways to make the cops' lives

         21  better.  That would be a terrific thing that the

         22  Public Safety Committee could make.  The cops are

         23  under an enormous amount of stress.  They're paid,

         24  as we've said, inadequately, but anything to improve

         25  their quality of work life would be terrific.  I'm
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          2  sure the PBA would be on board on that. They

          3  certainly deserve better than the salaries they're

          4  receiving today.  Again, once again, I say thank

          5  you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Perhaps we can

          7  start by not having some of our colleagues call the

          8  Police Department racist. That must make their job

          9  so much harder on the street and hurt morale in such

         10  a tremendous way.  Of course, it gets them

         11  headlines, so they do it.

         12                 I want to thank you because, number

         13  one, I thought there were no more points to be made,

         14  but you've come up with a lot more for us to

         15  assimilate and for recognizing what we're doing here

         16  today.  This was not a topic we weighted into

         17  lightly, and we wanted to, wear our flack jackets

         18  today.  I think we survived, but it was something

         19  that we could have really made a lot of people angry

         20  at us, but the gravity of this situation is such

         21  that we thought it was necessary, and thank you for

         22  recognizing that.

         23                 Only one question I have, what

         24  suggestions do you have?  Short of pay, which we all

         25  understand needs to be increased, what do think we
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          2  can do, or what can be done by others outside of us?

          3                 PROFESSOR O'DONNELL:  Frankly, I

          4  think anything the Council can do that can open up

          5  the information flow about how officers work and how

          6  officers live and some of the statistics we're

          7  looking at, it seems to me it would benefit the

          8  Council to have more direct knowledge about

          9  statistics and patrol strength and hiring.

         10                 I think one stat that was not raised,

         11  which I believe is also a stat that needs to be

         12  looked at, is numbers of people that are offered the

         13  job and don't show up.  I believe that has also

         14  increased dramatically.  So maybe there needs to be

         15  much more clarity from the Department about these

         16  statistics.

         17                 In terms of the officers' work lives,

         18  they need to have a balance between these anti-

         19  crime initiatives and officers' due process rights

         20  and officers' working conditions, so issues like

         21  that.  But, again, I'd be happy to make those

         22  suggestions in writing at a future time. Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  So,

         25  Professor O'Donnell, you would acknowledge that this
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          2  disparity that exists is related to this pattern

          3  bargaining that's been going on since I guess 1990

          4  and has created the vast situation that we're in

          5  that just having collective bargaining at this

          6  point, we're never going to catch up.

          7                 PROFESSOR O'DONNELL:  Right, the cops

          8  are in a position now where the job is not even a

          9  middle class job, and they're stuck in that going

         10  forward.

         11                 I just want to make one point here

         12  which is that it is becoming increasingly the case

         13  in other parts of New York State and New Jersey that

         14  young people actually pay to go to the Police

         15  Academy.  I'm suggesting that this is the way to go,

         16  but just to show you why we shouldn't get trapped in

         17  this $25,000 issue.

         18                 If you go to a lot of departments in

         19  Jersey, the cops aren't even paid while they're in

         20  the Academy.  For six months,  they actually pay

         21  themselves to go to the Academy.  The reward for

         22  that is a living wage, is more than a living wage,

         23  is a reasonable wage when they get out.

         24                 So I just want to caution that that's

         25  why, Councilman Gentile, the whole issue of pattern
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          2  bargaining should be looked at because it's not just

          3  this fixed at $25,000 wage, and they will come.

          4  That is a simplistic solution, and undoubtedly is

          5  not going to solve this problem.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I think it

          7  underscores what you're saying, underscores what the

          8  PBA said concerning the fact that when applicants

          9  look at the job, they look at it as a career choice

         10  and what happens to them over the course of career

         11  and where they end up, not only where they start,

         12  but also where they end up in terms of benefits and

         13  salary and being able to be a part of the middle

         14  class.  You make a good point, that's no longer

         15  become a middle class existence, middle class job at

         16  this point.

         17                 PROFESSOR O'DONNELL:  Right.  It

         18  seems to me the last thing we need is people

         19  relocating from Iowa perhaps because they saw a show

         20  about the NYPD on television and coming to the City

         21  and seeing the cost of living and the cost of

         22  surviving here and trying to do that on $25,000.  I

         23  certainly have heard stories of people coming from

         24  the midwest to New York City to be cops and landing

         25  here and just it's a totally different experience
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          2  than they would have expected.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  I'm curious,

          4  when you have your career days at John Jay, do you

          5  actually invite the other police departments?  Or do

          6  they initiate the contact?  Do they want to come in,

          7  or are you inviting in, or how does that work?

          8                 PROFESSOR O'DONNELL:  They want to

          9  come in.  The tragedy of all of this is that the New

         10  York City Police Department is still the most

         11  respected police department anyplace.

         12  Notwithstanding the fact that we're committed to not

         13  paying them what we should be paying them, I'm

         14  amazed at John Jay how many of our excellent

         15  students still become New York City police officers.

         16  It still has that pull.  It's still seen as the best

         17  police department anyplace, and that further

         18  compounds the tragedy, but, yes, increasingly, when

         19  we have career days, you have the NYPD, you have a

         20  recruiter.  I'm almost like, I guess, the Maytag

         21  repairperson standing there forlorn, nobody really

         22  coming over to see him, and these other departments

         23  in places you never even heard of, small agencies

         24  that offer superior salaries and benefits.  So

         25  that's a tragedy.
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          2                 This should be done without emotion.

          3  It should be done factually.  There's a pay and

          4  benefit issue that has to be looked at.  We

          5  shouldn't get too overly emotional about the topic,

          6  but I'm confident whether it's the IBO or anybody

          7  else who does the analysis, we're going to find the

          8  NYPD having been left completely, the job has really

          9  fallen off the ledge in terms of the way it pays its

         10  officers.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

         12  Professor O'Donnell.  Thank you for waiting to give

         13  that testimony.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE:  Yes, it's been

         15  very helpful. We look forward to working with you

         16  and, again, you mentioned the importance of this

         17  hearing.  I want to acknowledge the role that the

         18  PBA played in getting this hearing to be held today.

         19  Also, Speaker Quinn was very instrumental in having

         20  this hearing today. I want to acknowledge her and,

         21  of course, it doesn't happen without our staff, Liz

         22  Dubin, Legislative Counsel, Jennine Ventura, our

         23  Policy Analyst, we've got Lionel Francois walking

         24  around somewhere. He just walked out, okay, well,

         25  and Council Member Gentile for staying right to the
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          2  very end.  It doesn't often happen, but again, a

          3  very important issue to both of us.  So thank you

          4  all, and this hearing is now adjourned.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:10 p.m.)
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